

Conditional appearance of decay for the non-cutoff Boltzmann equation in a bounded domain

Cyril Imbert, Amélie Loher

▶ To cite this version:

Cyril Imbert, Amélie Loher. Conditional appearance of decay for the non-cutoff Boltzmann equation in a bounded domain. 2025. hal-04871261

HAL Id: hal-04871261 https://hal.science/hal-04871261v1

Preprint submitted on 7 Jan 2025

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

CONDITIONAL APPEARANCE OF DECAY FOR THE NON-CUTOFF BOLTZMANN EQUATION IN A BOUNDED DOMAIN

CYRIL IMBERT & AMÉLIE LOHER

ABSTRACT. This work is concerned with the appearance of decay bounds in the velocity variable for solutions of the space-inhomogeneous Boltzmann equation without cutoff posed in a domain in the case of hard and moderately soft potentials. Such bounds are derived for general non-negative suitable weak subsolutions. These estimates hold true as long as mass, energy and entropy density functions are under control. The following boundary conditions are treated: in-flow, bounce-back, specular reflection, diffuse reflection and Maxwell reflection. The proof relies on a family of Truncated Convex Inequalities that is inspired by the one recently introduced by F. Golse, L. Silvestre and the first author (2023). To the best of our knowledge, the generation of arbitrary polynomial decay in the velocity variable for the Boltzmann equation without cutoff is new in the case of soft potentials, even for classical solutions.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Preliminaries	8
3.	Truncated Lebesgue norms	11
4.	Coercivity estimates	12
5.	Error term due to the velocity dependance of the barrier	17
6.	Remaining error terms for hard potentials	22
7.	Main error terms for soft potentials	23
8.	Estimates for large exponents	35
9.	Proof of the decay estimate	37
References		45

1. Introduction

1.1. The Boltzmann equation. We consider the Boltzmann equation posed in bounded $C^{1,1}$ domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ (with $d \geq 2$),

$$(1.1) (\partial_t + v \cdot \nabla_x) f = Q(f, f), t \in (0, T), x \in \Omega, v \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

where the unknown function f = f(t, x, v) is non-negative; Q(f, f) denotes the Boltzmann collision operator,

(1.2)
$$Q(f,f)(v) = \iint_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{R}^d} (f(v_*')f(v') - f(v_*)f(v)) B(|v - v_*|, \sigma) d\sigma dv_*$$

where v' and v' are given by

$$v' = \frac{v + v_*}{2} + \frac{|v - v_*|}{2}\sigma, \qquad v'_* = \frac{v + v_*}{2} - \frac{|v - v_*|}{2}\sigma,$$

and the collision kernel B satisfies

$$B(|v-v_*|,\sigma) = |v-v_*|^{\gamma} b(\cos \theta) \quad \text{with } \cos \theta = \frac{v-v_*}{|v-v_*|} \cdot \sigma,$$

Date: January 7, 2025.

The authors would like to thank C. Mouhot for several useful comments on a preliminary version of this work.

for $\gamma \in (-d, 1]$ and

$$b(\cos\theta) \approx |\theta|^{-d+1-2s}$$

for $s \in (0,1)$. This means that there exists constants C_{\pm} such that $0 < C_{-} |\theta|^{-d+1-2s} \le b(\cos \theta) \le C_{+} |\theta|^{-d+1-2s}$. More precisely, we can reformulate this as

$$b(\cos \theta) = |v - v'|^{-(d-1)-2s} |v - v_*|^{d-2-\gamma} |v - v'_*|^{\gamma+2s+1} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta).$$

where $\tilde{b}(\cos\theta)$ is such that $0 < \tilde{b}_{-} < \tilde{b}(\cos\theta) < \tilde{b}_{+}$ for constants $\tilde{b}_{\pm} > 0$. We are concerned with the case when $\gamma + 2s > 0$ corresponding to so-called moderately soft potentials.

The equation is supplemented with an initial condition $f(0,x,v)=f_{\rm in}(x,v)$ for $(x,v)\in\Omega\times\mathbb{R}^d$ and a boundary condition. In order to describe the latter, we let n denote the outward unit normal vector on the boundary and Γ denote the domain that considers boundary points in space, that is $\Gamma:=\partial\Omega\times\mathbb{R}^d$, by Γ_- the incoming part of the boundary, and by Γ_+ the outcoming part of the boundary, that is $\Gamma_-:=\{(x,v)\in\Gamma:v\cdot n(x)>0\}$.

The Boltzmann equation (1.1) is supplemented with the following boundary conditions that are commonly considered in the literature,

- (i). IN-FLOW: $f(t,x,v)|_{\Gamma_-} = f_b(t,x,v)$ for a given function f_b .
- (ii). Bounce-back: f(t, x, v) = f(t, x, -v) on Γ .
- (iii). Specular reflection: $f(t, x, v) = f(t, x, \mathcal{R}_x v)$ with $\mathcal{R}_x v = v 2(v \cdot n)n$.
- (iv). DIFFUSE REFLECTION: $f(t,x,v)|_{\Gamma_{-}} = c_{\mu}\mu(v)\int_{\Gamma_{+}} f(t,x,v')(v'\cdot n)\,\mathrm{d}v'$, where $\mu(v) = e^{-|v|^2}$ is the Maxwellian, and c_{μ} is a normalisation constant, such that $c_{\mu}\int_{\Gamma_{+}} \mu(v')v'\cdot n\,\mathrm{d}v' = 1$.
- (v). MAXWELL REFLECTION: $f(t, x, v)|_{\Gamma_{-}} = (1 \iota)f(t, x, \mathcal{R}_{x}v) + \iota c_{\mu}\mu(v) \int_{\Gamma_{+}} f(t, x, v')(v' \cdot n) dv'$ where $\iota : \partial\Omega \to [0, 1]$ is the accommodation coefficient.
- 1.2. **Hydrodynamical quantities.** L. Silvestre [39] showed that when some hydrodynamical quantities are under control, the collision operator enjoys elliptic properties. It was further investigated by L. Silvestre and the second author in [29]. Throughout this work, we assume that there exist positive constants m_0, M_0, E_0, H_0 such that for almost every $(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \Omega$, the function f(v) = f(t, x, v) satisfies,

(1.3)
$$m_0 \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \, \mathrm{d}v \le M_0, \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) |v|^2 \, \mathrm{d}v \le E_0, \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \ln f(v) \, \mathrm{d}v \le H_0.$$

In particular, the entropy production estimate yields some integrability in (t, x, v) with a negative weight in velocity [11, Theorem 0.1].

1.3. **The collision operator.** In order to present the Truncated Convex Inequalities satisfied by our weak solutions, it is necessary to recall some facts about the collision operator and its kernel representation.

Using Carleman coordinates, the collision operator can be written as follows [41] – see also [39],

$$Q(f, f)(v) = \int_{\mathbb{P}^d} [f(v')K_f(v, v') - f(v)K_f(v', v)] dv'$$

where the kernel $K_f(v, v')$ is given by

$$K_f(v, v') = 2^{d-1} |v' - v|^{-1} \int_{w \perp v' - v} f(v + w) B(r, \cos \theta) r^{-d+2} dw$$
$$= 2^{d-1} |v' - v|^{-(d+2s)} \int_{w \perp v' - v} f(v + w) |w|^{\gamma + 2s + 1} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) dw,$$

for $r^2 = |v' - v|^2 + |w|^2$ and $\cos \theta = \frac{|w|^2 - |v - v'|^2}{|w|^2 + |v - v'|^2}$. The function \tilde{b} is bounded from above and below by positive constants.

1.4. Truncated Convex Inequalities. We derive decay estimates by studying the evolution along time of some L^{q_0} -Lebesgue norm of the function $(f-A)_+$. It is convenient to consider a general convex function $\varphi_0(r)$ instead of r^{q_0} and more generally, a general function $\varphi = \varphi(t, x, v, r)$ that is convex in r instead of $\varphi_0((f-A)_+)$. With such a general function φ , a formal computation yields,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi(t, v, f) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \partial_r \varphi(t, x, v, f) Q(f, f) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x + \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \partial_t \varphi(t, x, v, f) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \partial_r \varphi(t, x, v, f) \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[f(v') K_f(v, v') - f(v) K_f(v', v) \right] \, \mathrm{d}v' \right\} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+ \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \partial_t \varphi(t, x, v, f) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

We denote in the sequel f' = f(v') and f = f(v). We can then add and subtract

$$\mathcal{D}_{\varphi}(f, f') := \varphi(t, x, v', f') - \varphi(t, x, v, f) - \partial_r \varphi(t, x, v, f) \left(f' - f\right),$$

so that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi(t, x, v, f) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$= - \iiint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \mathcal{D}_{\varphi}(f, f') K(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+ \iiint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \left[\partial_r \varphi(t, x, v, f) f - \varphi(t, x, v, f) - \partial_r \varphi(v', f') f' + \varphi(v', f') \right] K(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+ \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \partial_t \varphi(t, x, v, f) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x - \iint_{\Gamma} \varphi(f)(v \cdot n) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}S(x).$$

We now consider

(1.4)
$$\Phi(f) := \partial_r \varphi(t, v, f) f - \varphi(t, x, v, f).$$

and we get,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi(t, x, v, f) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$= - \iiint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \mathcal{D}_{\varphi}(f, f') K(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+ \iiint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \left[\Phi(f) - \Phi(f') \right] K(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+ \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \partial_t \varphi(t, x, v, f) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x - \iint_{\Gamma} \varphi(f) (v \cdot n) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}S(x).$$

Due to the cancellation lemma, see (2.5), we are thus lead to,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi(t, x, v, f) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x = - \iiint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \mathcal{D}_{\varphi}(f, f') K(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x
+ c_b \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \Phi(f) \left(f * |\cdot|^{\gamma} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x
+ \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} [\partial_t \varphi](t, x, v, f) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x - \iint_{\Gamma} \varphi(f)(v \cdot n) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}S(x).$$

We can now use the special structure of the function φ that we are going to use. More precisely,

$$\varphi(t, v, r) = \bar{\varphi}((r - A(t, v))_{+})$$

for some convex function $\bar{\varphi}$ vanishing at 0 together with its derivative $\dot{\bar{\varphi}}$. Then we compute,

$$\Phi(f) = \bar{\Phi}((f - A)_+)$$

and

$$(1.5) \qquad \mathcal{D}_{\varphi}(f,f') = d_{\bar{\varphi}}((f-A)_{+},(f'-A')_{+}) + \dot{\bar{\varphi}}((f-A)_{+})(A'-f')_{+} - \dot{\bar{\varphi}}((f-A)_{+})(A'-A)_{+}$$

where

$$(1.6) \quad d_{\bar{\varphi}}((f-A)_+, (f'-A')_+) = \bar{\varphi}((f'-A')_+) - \bar{\varphi}((f-A)_+) - \dot{\bar{\varphi}}((f-A)_+) \cdot ((f'-A')_+ - (f-A)_+).$$

We remark that the first two terms for \mathcal{D}_{φ} are non-negative, while the third one is an error that we will have to handle.

1.5. Suitable weak subsolutions. In order to define suitable weak solutions, we consider elementary functions $\bar{\varphi}$. Precisely, we consider the family of convex functions $\varphi_a(r) = (r-a)_+$ associated with a>0. These functions are commonly used in the theory of entropy solutions for scalar conservation laws and are known as Kruzhkov's semi-entropies, see for instance [4, 25]. In this case [19],

(1.7)
$$d_{\varphi_a}(r,s) = \begin{cases} (s-a)_+ & \text{if } r \leq a \\ (a-s)_+ & \text{if } r > a \end{cases}$$

and $\Phi_a(r) = a \mathbf{1}_{\{f > a\}}$.

As far as integrability of solutions is concerned, we remark that the upper bound on the mass density – see condition (1.3) – and the bound on the time-integrated entropy production (see Theorem 2.3) suggest to consider solutions that are L^{q_0} in all variables with $q_0 = 1 + \frac{2s}{d}$ – see Lemma 2.2.

In accordance with the formal computation that we performed above, we introduce the following notion of weak subsolutions for the inhomogeneous Boltzmann equation.

Definition 1.1 (Suitable weak subsolutions). Let $T \in (0, +\infty]$ and let Ω be a C^1 domain of \mathbb{R}^d . A nonnegative function $f \in L^1((0,T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ is a suitable weak subsolution of (1.1) if

(i). IN-FLOW: given $g:(0,T)\times\Gamma_-\to[0,+\infty)$, for any real number a>0 and any function $A:(0,T)\times\mathbb{R}^d\to$ $(0,+\infty)$ such that $\partial_t A$ and $\partial^2_{v_i,v_j} A$ exist and are bounded continuous in $(0,T)\times\mathbb{R}^d$, there holds in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T)),$

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \varphi_{a}(f - A) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
+ \iiint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} d_{\varphi_{a}}((f - A)_{+}, (f' - A')_{+}) K_{f}(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}x \\
+ \iiint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \dot{\varphi}_{a}(f - A)(A' - f')_{+} K_{f}(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}x \\
\leq \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left\{ c_{b} \left(\Phi_{a}(f - A) + A \dot{\varphi}_{a}(f - A) \right) (f *_{v} | \cdot |^{\gamma}) - \dot{\varphi}_{a}(f - A) \partial_{t}A \right\} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
+ \iiint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \dot{\varphi}_{a}(f - A)(A' - A) K_{f}(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}x - \iint_{\Gamma_{-}} \varphi_{a}(f_{b} - A)(v \cdot n) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}S(x)
\end{cases}$$

with $\varphi_a(r) = (r-a)_+$ and $\Phi_a(r) = a\mathbf{1}_{\{f>a\}}$ and d_{φ_a} is given by (1.7).

- (ii). BOUNCE-BACK: it satisfies the (1.8) with $f_b = 0$.
- (iii). SPECULAR REFLECTION: it satisfies (1.8) with $f_b = 0$.
- (iv). DIFFUSE REFLECTION: it satisfies (1.8) with $f_b(t,x,v) := c_\mu \mu(v) \int_{\Gamma_+} f(t,x,v')(v'\cdot n) \, dv'$. (v). MAXWELL REFLECTION: it satisfies (1.8) with $f_b(t,x,v) := \iota c_\mu \mu(v) \int_{\Gamma_+} f(t,x,v')(v'\cdot n) \, dv'$.

Remark 1.2 (General convex functions). The family of inequalities (1.8) is only imposed for elementary (non-decreasing non-negative) convex functions $\varphi_a(r) = (r-a)_+$. But this implies that such inequalities hold true for general Lipschitz convex functions φ such that $\varphi(0) = \dot{\varphi}(0) = 0$ by simply integrating in the parameter a. Indeed, as already mentioned in [19], a general C^2 convex function φ satisfies,

$$\varphi(r) = \varphi(0) + \dot{\varphi}(0)r + \int_0^{+\infty} \ddot{\varphi}(a)(r-a)_+ da$$

and we can easily check that

$$\Phi(r) = \int_0^{+\infty} \ddot{\varphi}(a) \Phi_a(r) \, \mathrm{d}a \quad \text{ and } \quad d_{\varphi}(r, \rho) = \int_0^{+\infty} \ddot{\varphi}(a) d_{\varphi_a}(r, \rho) \, \mathrm{d}a.$$

We will follow such an idea through a truncation procedure (see Section 3).

Remark 1.3 (Link with renormalized solutions). R. J. DiPerna and P.-L. Lions [15] constructed weak solutions of the Boltzmann equation in the cutoff case by considering the (Lipschitz) concave non-linear change of variables $\varphi(f)$ with $\varphi(r) = \ln(1+r)$. We consider here (Lipschitz) convex functions φ .

Remark 1.4 (Positive terms). The first positive term in the left hand side of (1.8) corresponds to the classical entropy production term. The second one is reminiscent of the "good extra term" first exhibited by L. Caffarelli, C. H. Chan and A. F. Vasseur in [6]. It also plays a crucial role in the recent work by Z. Ouyang and L. Silvestre [36].

Remark 1.5 (Error terms). We remark that right-hand sides of time differential inequalities are well-defined and integrable in time. Indeed, $\dot{\varphi}_a$ and Φ_a are bounded and $f *_v | \cdot |^{\gamma}$ is integrable in (t, x, v). The term involving the difference A' - A comes from the dependance of the barrier function A on the velocity variable. It did not appear in the work of Q. Ouyang and L. Silvestre [36]. It is reminiscent of (and treated as) the "bad terms" that were treated by C. Mouhot, L. Silvestre and the first author in [26].

1.6. Main result.

Theorem 1.6 (Conditional decay estimates). Let the parameters $\gamma \in (-d, 1]$ and $s \in (0, 1)$ of the non-cutoff collision kernel satisfy $\gamma + 2s \in (0, 1)$, Let f_{in} (and f_b) denote the initial data (and the boundary data in the in-flow case).

Let $T \in (0, +\infty]$ and f be a suitable weak subsolution of the Boltzmann equation (1.1) in $(0, T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$ with either in-flow, bounce-back, specular / diffuse / Maxwell reflection boundary conditions satisfying in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T))$,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} f \ln f \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v + \int_{\Omega} D(f) \, \mathrm{d}x \le 0,$$

where $D(f) \ge 0$ denotes the entropy production. We also assume that f satisfies Condition (1.3) about mass, energy and entropy density functions.

Then for all $q \ge 0$, there exist $C_q > 0$ and $\beta_q > 1$, depending on $m_0, M_0, E_0, s, d, \gamma$, C_b and q such that, if

$$f_b(t, x, v) \le C_b \left(1 + t^{-\beta_q}\right) \langle v \rangle^{-q}$$
 a.e. in $(0, T) \times \Gamma_-$

(only in case of in-flow or diffuse / Maxwell reflection), then the solution f satisfies,

$$f(t, x, v) \le C_q (1 + t^{-\beta_q}) \langle v \rangle^{-q}$$
 a.e. $in(0, T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

Remark 1.7 (Entropy production). The definition of the entropy production D(f) is recalled in the preliminary section, see (2.7).

Remark 1.8 (Integrability of solutions). A suitable weak subsolution of the Boltzmann equation is merely integrable in all variables. In the proof of our main theorem, we need more integrability. The entropy production estimate from Lemma 2.2 implies that $f \in L^1((0,T) \times \Omega; L^{p_0}_{k_0}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ for $\frac{1}{p_0} = 1 - \frac{2s}{d}$ and $k_0 = \gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d}$. Consequently, when combined with the hydrodynamical bounds (1.3), we obtain that the functions f we work with are such that $f \in L^{q_0}_{k_0^*}(0,T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$ with $q_0 = \frac{d+2s}{d}$ and some $k_0^* \in (0,2)$.

Remark 1.9 (Algebraic time decay in v). For $q \in [0, q_{\rm nsl}]$, with $q_{\rm nsl}$ given in (vii) below, the time decay exponent is given by the formula $\beta_q = \frac{d}{2s}$. For large q's, it is proportional to a power of q. Precisely, $\beta_q \propto \left(1 + \frac{1}{2s}\right)^{\frac{q}{2s}}$.

Remark 1.10 (Large times). We emphasize that the estimates hold true uniformly in time, even in the case $T = +\infty$. This is important in the conditional regularity program. Obtaining bounds that are uniform in time will imply that the large time behaviour can be studied in the class of regular solutions, see in particular the work by L. Desvillettes and C. Villani [13].

Remark 1.11 (Generation of moments). We emphasise that the generation of any pointwise moments was unknown in the case of moderately soft potentials, even for classical solutions. In [26], the first author together with C. Mouhot and L. Silvestre established pointwise generation of moments for $q \in [0, q_{\text{nsl}}]$ for classical solutions on the torus with rapid decay.

1.7. Comments. This work makes part of the large body of literature dealing with velocity decay of solutions of kinetic equations. Before reviewing the literature, we make several comments about our main theorem and its proof.

CONDITIONAL DECAY ESTIMATES. The conditional decay estimates that we obtain for the space-inhomogeneous Boltzmann equation in the non-cutoff case are to be compared with the ones obtained by C. Mouhot, L. Silvestre and the first author (2020). It extends them in two directions. First and most importantly, the Boltzmann equation is posed in a domain and is supplemented with boundary conditions. Second, we consider some weak (sub)solutions instead of classical ones. It is not only a technical challenge to be able to deal with solutions that are more likely to be constructed. The statements are also significantly improved since we generate any polynomial decay, even for moderately soft potentials.

We already mentioned that deriving decay estimates, such as pointwise or moment bounds, is a classical theme in kinetic theory, it is key if the conditional regularity program by L. Silvestre and the first author (see [30] and also [28]) is to be extended to the case of bounded domains.

BARRIERS AND ENERGY METHODS. The methods of proofs are developed after the article by Z. Ouyang and L. Silvestre [36] about conditional pointwise bounds of weak solutions: in order to prove that the solution f decays at a certain algebraic rate at infinity in velocity, a barrier method was used in [26] and a maximum principle argument was set up. More precisely, letting A(t,v) denote the barrier, the method amounts to consider the first time of contact between f and A, as continuous functions. The technique used in [36] is closer to De Giorgi's truncation argument (revisited for instance by B. Perthame and A. F. Vasseur for evolution equations [37]): prove that the L^2 -norm of the positive part of (f - A), denoted by $(f - A)_+$, vanishes for all times. In order to do so, we study the time evolution of this L^2 -norm along the flow of the equation.

TRUNCATED CONVEX INEQUALITIES. In this work, we choose to consider solutions with the mere integrability given by the control of the mass density and the entropy production (see Remark 1.8). We also choose the framework of weak solutions satisfying a family of inequalities associated with convex functions. Such weak solutions were recently introduced by F. Golse, L. Silvestre and the first author in the homogeneous case for very soft potentials [19]. It turns out that classical subsolutions of the Boltzmann equation satisfy them. We thus call them suitable weak subsolutions. We emphasize that we do not use the equation but only this family of inequalities. It is reminiscent of the notion of De Giorgi classes from classical elliptic regularity. This notion was introduced in [31] and the interested reader is referred to [32] for a modern presentation.

COERCIVE TERMS. In these inequalities, there are coercive terms, that is to say positive terms in the left hand side, and error terms, corresponding to all terms appearing on the right hand side (some of them are positive, others have a priori no sign). There are two types of coercive terms. Some are clear counterparts of the \dot{H}^1 -norm in De Giorgi's original article. They ensure that the subsolution enjoys better integrability. These terms are typically the ones that are exploited in [19], thanks to the techniques developed in [11, 29]. They are non-local in nature, but also linear. Indeed, they all rely on the property of the kernel K that are derived from the hydrodynamical bounds – see Subsection 2.1. The second type of coercive term is what we call the "good extra term", in reference to [6], where an additional "coercive" term exhibited in the non-local setting. This term was exploited for kinetic equations for the first time in [33]. It turns out that this additional term is the most important in the proof.

ERROR TERMS. Error terms are of two types too. First, there is the error term coming from the dependance of the barrier A in the velocity variable. In order to control it, we rely on ideas from [26]. They have to be adapted since we use a different type of argument (pointwise contact vs. truncation) and a different way of splitting the collision operator. The other terms come from the cancellation lemma. In particular, they are non-linear in nature: they make appear a product with the convolution of f with $|\cdot|^{\gamma}$.

GENERATION OF POINTWISE DECAY. Our main result asserts that, as long as mass, energy and entropy densities are under control, suitable subsolutions satisfy a polynomial decay in the velocity variable of any order q. The result is first proved for some exponent $q_{\rm nsl}$ (for not-so-large), by using the estimates from below for coercive terms and from above for error terms. We then use this first decay to improve iteratively the exponent q measuring the polynomial decay rate.

1.8. Review of literature. The study of velocity moments of solutions to kinetic equations plays a central role since Boltzmann's (and Landau's) collision operator integrates the velocity variable in the open space \mathbb{R}^d . It has a long history, mostly in the space-homogeneous setting, that goes back to the article by T. Carleman [9]. It is precisely described in the introduction of [26]. Let us give references, summarize the review of literature from [26] and review the literature written since then. The reader is also referred to references contained in the articles that are quoted in this subsection.

VELOCITY MOMENTS. We first review contributions to the study of moments of solutions in the velocity variable. Maxwell potentials are treated in [24, 40]. In the case of hard potentials and angular cutoff, Povzner's inequalities [38] are commonly used: see works by T. Elmroth [16], L. Desvillettes [12], S. Mischler and B. Wennberg [35], X. Lu [34] and B. Wennberg (in the non-cutoff case) [42]. A. Bobylev considered exponential moments in [5], see also [17], and in particular the work [2] in this direction, where they establish the creation and the propagation of exponential moments to the spatially homogeneous Boltzmann equation for hard potentials. The case of moderately soft potentials and angular cutoff is addressed by L. Desvillettes [12], see also [14, 41] in this direction. We finally mention the work by M. Gualdani, S. Mischler and C. Mouhot [20] that focuses on hard spheres and makes assumptions on hydrodynamical quantities that are similar to what is assumed in this work. More recently, C. Cao, L. B. He and J. Ji [8] studied the propagation of exponential moments in L^2 for (very) soft potentials in a perturbative regime.

POINTWISE DECAY. There are fewer results about pointwise decay. It starts with works by T. Carleman [9,10] and extended by L. Arkeryd [3]. Exponential pointwise upper bounds were obtained in [17], see also [18].

More recently, the work by C. Mouhot, L. Silvestre and the first author [26] addressed the question of appearance and propagation of polynomial decay in the velocity variable under condition (1.3) on hydrodynamical quantities. In this vein, S. Cameron and S. Snelson [7] established similar results in the case $\gamma + 2s > 2$. The study of polynomial decay is also central in [22] in which the authors are able to deal with very soft potentials ($\gamma + 2s < 0$). See also [21] for results dealing with the Landau equation. In [23], C. Henderson and W. Wang are interested in very soft potentials and short time existence. They work in the class of solutions with polynomial decay.

1.9. **Open questions.** Solutions of the inhomogeneous Boltzmann equation converge to Maxwellians for large times [13]. We recall that under the condition (1.3), C. Mouhot, L. Silvestre and the first author [27] proved that solutions stay above a Maxwellian. It is thus natural to ask ourselves if they can be bounded from above by another Maxwellian. Unfortunately, our proof does not yield neither such an (optimal) upper bound nor any exponential decay (in v). The first open question is thus to show the propagation of pointwise Gaussian bounds. It is unnatural to expect to be able to propagate the Maxwellian with the right temperature.

Another natural open question is the possibility of bridging the gap between generating any polynomial pointwise bound to the generation of pointwise Gaussian bounds. Is it possible to show that solutions to the non-cutoff Boltzmann equation with moderately soft potentials generate Gaussian bounds of the form $e^{-a(t)\langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s}}$ for some function a = a(t)?

The critical cases $\gamma + 2s = 0$ and $\gamma + 2s = 1$ are left open. Finally, the case of very soft potentials is also another natural open question.

1.10. **Notation.** For $p \in [1, \infty]$ and $k \in \mathbb{R}$, the weighted Lebesgue space L_k^p is given by

$$L_k^p(\mathbb{R}^d) := \left\{ f \colon \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R} \text{ s.t. } \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^p(v) \langle v \rangle^{kp} \, \mathrm{d}v < +\infty \right\},$$

where $\langle v \rangle := (1 + |v|^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$. When k = 0, we simply write L^p .

For $a \in \mathbb{R}$ we define $a_+ := \max(a, 0)$.

The volume of the unit sphere of \mathbb{R}^m is denoted by ω_{m-1} .

- 1.11. **Constants.** We gather here parameters and constants that are used repeatedly in statements and proofs.
 - (i). The dimension of the x and v variables is denoted by d. It is always larger than or equal to 2.
- (ii). The parameters γ and s from the kernel satisfy: $\gamma \in (-d, 1]$ and $s \in (0, 1)$ and $0 < \gamma + 2s < 1$.
- (iii). The Lebesgue exponent $p_0 > 1$,

$$\frac{1}{p_0} = 1 - \frac{2s}{d}$$

comes from the entropy production estimate.

(iv). The Lebesgue exponent $q_0 > 1$,

$$q_0 = 1 + \frac{2s}{d}$$

is related to integrability of solutions.

(v). The moment exponent

$$k_0 = (\gamma + 2s) - \frac{2s}{d}$$

appears in the entropy production estimate.

(vi). To any decay exponent $q \ge 1$ is associated a moment exponent

$$l_q = (\gamma + 2s) + \frac{2s}{d} - q\left(1 + \frac{2s}{d}\right).$$

(vii). The decay exponent $q_{\rm nsl}$ (for not-so-large) is given by

$$q_{\rm nsl} = \begin{cases} d + 1 + \frac{d}{2s} \min(\gamma, 0), & \text{if } -\frac{2sd}{d + 2s} \le \gamma \le 1, \\ d + 1 - \frac{d}{d + 2s} (2 - \gamma), & \text{if } -2s < \gamma < -\frac{2sd}{d + 2s} \end{cases}$$

It corresponds to the first decay that is generated by coercivity and error estimates.

2. Preliminaries

We gather in this section known results and technical lemmas that will be used in next sections.

2.1. The collision operator. We recall that the use of Carleman coordinates allows us to write the collision operator Q(f, f) and the kernel K_f as follows,

$$Q(f, f)(v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} [f(v')K_f(v, v') - f(v)K_f(v', v)] dv'$$

and

$$K_f(v, v') = 2^{d-1} |v' - v|^{-1} \int_{w \perp v' - v} f(v + w) B(r, \cos \theta) r^{-d+2} dw,$$

where $r^2 = |v' - v|^2 + |w|^2$ and $\cos \theta = \frac{|w|^2 - |v - v'|^2}{|w|^2 + |v - v'|^2}$.

2.1.1. Coercivity. Under the condition (1.3), we know that for any fixed $(t,x) \in [0,T] \times \Omega$ there exists a set $\Xi(v) \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ for every $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$ such that $\Xi(v)$ is a symmetric cone, and such that for $v' - v \in \Xi(v)$ there holds

(2.1)
$$K_f(v, v') \ge \lambda_0 \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s + 1} |v - v'|^{-d - 2s},$$

with $\lambda_0 = \lambda_0(d, m_0, M_0, E_0, H_0)$. Moreover, there holds

$$\left|\Xi(v)\cap\mathbb{S}^{d-1}\right|\geq c_0\langle v\rangle^{-1},$$

for some constant $c_0 = c_0(d, m_0, M_0, E_0, H_0)$. The set $\Xi(v)$ is the cone of non-degeneracy of $K_f(v, v')$. We can also ensure that the following estimate holds,

$$(2.3) |\Xi(v) \cap B_3 \setminus B_2| \ge c_0 \langle v \rangle^{-1}.$$

2.1.2. Upper Bound. For $(t, x) \in [0, T] \times \Omega$ there exists a positive constant Λ_0 depending on m_0, M_0, E_0, H_0, d such that

(2.4)
$$\forall v \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ \forall r > 0, \qquad \int_{B_r(v)} K_f(v, v') \left| v' - v \right|^2 dv' \le \Lambda_0 \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s} r^{2 - 2s}.$$

2.1.3. Cancellation. For $(t,x) \in [0,T] \times \Omega$ there holds

(2.5)
$$\forall v \in \mathbb{R}^d : \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(K_f(v, v') - K_f(v', v) \right) \, \mathrm{d}v' = c_b \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v_*) \, |v - v_*|^{\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}v_*,$$

with

$$c_b = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} \left\{ \frac{2^{\frac{d+\gamma}{2}}}{(1+\sigma \cdot \mathbf{e})^{\frac{d+\gamma}{2}}} - 1 \right\} b(\sigma \cdot \mathbf{e}) \, d\sigma > 0,$$

for any $\mathbf{e} \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$. See [1].

2.1.4. Symmetry. For any $(t,x) \in [0,T] \times \Omega$ and $v,w \in \mathbb{R}^d$ there holds

(2.6)
$$K_f(v, v + w) = K_f(v, v - w).$$

2.2. **Integrability of solutions.** The following lemma is a consequence of Hölder's inequality and a proof is given in [19].

Lemma 2.1 (Hölder's inequality with weights). Let $p, q, r \in [1, +\infty]$ and $p \le r \le q$. Then,

$$||f||_{L_{k_r}^r} \le ||f||_{L_{k_p}^p}^{\alpha} ||f||_{L_{k_q}^q}^{1-\alpha}$$

with $\alpha \in (0,1)$ such that $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{\alpha}{p} + \frac{1-\alpha}{q}$ and $k_r = \alpha k_p + (1-\alpha)k_q$.

We can use the previous lemma to derive the following one.

Lemma 2.2 (Integrability of solutions). If $f \in L^{\infty}((0,T) \times \bar{\Omega}; L^1_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and $f \in L^1((0,T) \times \bar{\Omega}; L^{p_0}_{k_0}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ with k_0 given by (v), then $f \in L^{q_0}_{k_0^*}((0,T) \times \bar{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$, where q_0 and k_0^* are given by

$$q_0 = 2 - \frac{1}{p_0} = 1 + \frac{2s}{d} \in (1, 2), \qquad k_0^* = \frac{2s + d(\gamma + 2s)}{d + 2s} > 0.$$

2.2.1. Entropy production estimate. The entropy production of a function f is given by the following formula,

$$D(f) = -\langle Q(f, f), \ln f \rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \iiint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{S}^{d-1}} [f(v_*)f(v) - f(v_*')f(v')] \ln \frac{f(v_*)f(v)}{f(v_*')f(v')} B(|v - v_*|, \cos \theta) d\sigma dv dv'.$$

Theorem 2.3 (Entropy production estimate – [11, Theorem 0.1]). Let $\gamma \in (-d, 1]$ and $s \in (0, 1)$. Then, for any non-negative solution f of (1.1) verifying the bounds (1.3), the entropy production D(f) satisfies

$$||f||_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \le C_0 D(f),$$

where p_0 is such that $\frac{1}{p_0} = 1 - \frac{2s}{d}$ and $k_0 = \gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d}$. The constant C_0 only depends on mass, energy and entropy of f.

In particular, as a consequence of the entropy production estimate and Lemma 2.2, we note that for any solution of (1.1) satisfying the hydrodynamical condition (1.3) there holds $f \in L^{q_0}_{k_*^*}((0,T) \times \bar{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$.

2.3. **Interpolation estimates.** This subsection is devoted to the proofs of interpolation estimates that will be used in the proof of the main theorem.

Hölder's inequality with weights (see Lemma 2.1) applied to p = r = q = 1 yields the following result.

Lemma 2.4 (First weighted L^1 estimate). Let $f: \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, \infty)$ have a finite 2-moment. Then there holds,

$$\forall k \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall \alpha_0 \in (0,1), \qquad \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \langle v \rangle^k \, \mathrm{d}v \le E_0^{\alpha_0} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \langle v \rangle^{\frac{k-2\alpha_0}{1-\alpha_0}} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{1-\alpha_0}.$$

Second, we use that $q_0 \in (1,2)$ to get $1 \in [q_0 - 1, q_0]$ and interpolate $f \in L^1$ between $f \in L^{q_0}$ and $f \in L^{q_0-1}$ (with weights). Since $q_0 - 1 < 1$, the interpolation is applied to $f^{(q_0-1)^{-1}}$.

Lemma 2.5 (Second weighted L^1 estimate). Let $f: \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, \infty)$ have a finite 2-moment. Let $q_0 = \frac{d+2s}{d} \in (1, 2), \frac{1}{p_0} = 1 - \frac{2s}{d}, k_0 = \gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d}$. Then there holds,

$$\forall k_2 \in \mathbb{R}, \qquad \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \langle v \rangle^{k_2} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \|f^{q_0}\|_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}}^{\frac{d(d-2s)}{4s^2+d^2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^{q_0-1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{m_2} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{4sd}{4s^2+d^2}},$$

with

$$m_2 = \frac{4s^2 + d^2}{4sd} \left[k_2 - \frac{d(d-2s)}{4s^2 + d^2} k_0 \right].$$

Proof. We interpolate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \langle v \rangle^{k_2} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^{q_0 p_0}(v) \langle v \rangle^{k_0 p_0} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{\alpha_3}{p_0}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^{q_0 - 1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{m_2} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\alpha_4},$$

where we need α_3, α_4 and m_2 to satisfy,

$$\frac{\alpha_3}{p_0} + \alpha_4 = 1,$$
 $\alpha_3 q_0 + \alpha_4 (q_0 - 1) = 1,$ $\alpha_3 k_0 + \alpha_4 m_2 = k_2.$

This yields

$$\alpha_3 = \frac{p(2 - q_0)}{q_0 p_0 + 1 - q_0} = \frac{d(d - 2s)}{4s^2 + d^2}, \qquad \alpha_4 = \frac{q_0 p_0 - 1}{q_0 p_0 + 1 - q_0} = \frac{4sd}{4s^2 + d^2},$$

$$m_2 = \frac{1}{\alpha_4} \left(k_2 - \alpha_3 k_0 \right) = \frac{4s^2 + d^2}{4sd} \left[k_2 - \frac{d(d - 2s)}{4s^2 + d^2} \left(\gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d} \right) \right].$$

We can then apply Lemma 2.1 with p = 1 and $q = p_0 q_0$.

Lemma 2.6 (General weighted L^{p_1} estimate). Let $f: \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, \infty)$. Then for all $p_1 \in [1, p_0q_0]$ and all $k_1 \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$||f||_{L^{p_1}_{k_1/p_1}} \le ||f^{q_0}||_{L^{p_0}_{k_0}}^{\frac{d(p_1-1)}{p_14s}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \langle v \rangle^{m_1} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{d+2s-p_1(d-2s)}{p_14s}}$$

with

$$m_1 = \frac{4s}{d+2s - p_1(d-2s)} \left[k_1 - \frac{d(p_1-1)}{4s} k_0 \right].$$

Proof. We interpolate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^{p_1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{k_1} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^{q_0 p_0}(v) \langle v \rangle^{k_0 p_0} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{\alpha_1}{p_0}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \langle v \rangle^{m_1} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\alpha_2},$$

where we need α_1, α_2 and m_1 to satisfy,

$$\frac{\alpha_1}{p_0} + \alpha_2 = 1,$$
 $\alpha_1 q_0 + \alpha_2 = p_1,$ $\alpha_1 k_0 + \alpha_2 m_1 = k_1.$

This yields

$$\alpha_1 = \frac{(p_1 - 1)p_0}{q_0 p_0 - 1} = \frac{d(p_1 - 1)}{4s}, \qquad \alpha_2 = \frac{q_0 p_0 - p_1}{q_0 p_0 - 1} = \frac{d + 2s - p_1(d - 2s)}{4s},$$

$$m_1 = \frac{1}{\alpha_2} (k_1 - \alpha_1 k_0) = \frac{4s}{d + 2s - p_1(d - 2s)} \left[k_1 - \frac{d(p_1 - 1)}{4s} \left(\gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d} \right) \right].$$

Finally, as a consequence of Lemmas 2.4, 2.5 and 2.6, there holds the following estimate.

Lemma 2.7 (Weighted L^{q_0} estimate). Let $f: \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, \infty)$ have a finite 2-moment. Then there holds for any $k_3 \in \mathbb{R}$ and any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^{q_0}(v) \langle v \rangle^{k_3} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \varepsilon \, \|f^{q_0}\|_{L^{p_0}_{k_0}} + C(\varepsilon, E_0) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^{q_0 - 1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{m_3} \, \mathrm{d}v \right),$$

with

$$m_3 = \left(1 + \frac{d}{2s}\right)k_3 - \frac{d}{2s}k_0 - 2,$$

and $C(\varepsilon, E_0)$ only depends on E_0 , ε , s and d.

Proof. We first interpolate with Lemma 2.6 for $p_1 = q_0$ and $k_1 = k_3$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^{q_0}(v) \langle v \rangle^{k_3} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \|f^{q_0}\|_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}}^{\alpha_1} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \langle v \rangle^{m_1} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\alpha_2},$$

where α_1, α_2, m_1 are given by

$$\alpha_1 = \frac{1}{2}, \qquad \alpha_2 = \frac{d+2s}{2d}, \qquad m_1 = \frac{2d}{d+2s} \left[k_3 - \frac{1}{2} \left(\gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d} \right) \right].$$

Then apply Lemma 2.4 for any $\alpha_0 \in (0,1)$ and with $k=m_1$.

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \langle v \rangle^{m_1} dv \le E_0^{\alpha_0} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \langle v \rangle^{\frac{m_1 - 2\alpha_0}{1 - \alpha_0}} dv \right)^{1 - \alpha_0}.$$

Next we interpolate with Lemma 2.5 for $k_2 = \frac{m_1 - 2\alpha_0}{1 - \alpha_0}$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v) \langle v \rangle^{\frac{m_1 - 2\alpha_0}{1 - \alpha_0}} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \|f^{q_0}\|_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}}^{\alpha_3} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^{q_0 - 1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{m_2} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\alpha_4},$$

where

$$\alpha_3 = \frac{d(d-2s)}{4s^2+d^2}, \qquad \alpha_4 = \frac{4sd}{4s^2+d^2}, \qquad m_2 = \frac{4s^2+d^2}{4sd} \left[\frac{m_1-2\alpha_0}{1-\alpha_0} - \frac{d(d-2s)}{4s^2+d^2} \left(\gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d} \right) \right].$$

Finally we combine the three previous inequalities

$$\int f^{q_0}(v) \langle v \rangle^{k_3} \, \mathrm{d}v \le E_0^{\alpha_2 \alpha_0} \| f^{q_0} \|_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}}^{\alpha_1 + (1 - \alpha_0)\alpha_2 \alpha_3} \left(\int f^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{m_2} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{(1 - \alpha_0)\alpha_2 \alpha_4}$$

we use Young's inequality for some $\theta > 1$ and for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$,

$$\leq \varepsilon \left\| f^{q_0} \right\|_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}}^{\theta(\alpha_1 + (1 - \alpha_0)\alpha_2\alpha_3)} + C(\varepsilon, E_0) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^{q_0 - 1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{m_2} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{\theta(1 - \alpha_0)\alpha_2\alpha_4}{\theta - 1}}$$

with $C(\varepsilon, E_0) = E_0^{\frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_0 \theta}{\theta - 1}} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{\theta - 1}}$. We choose θ and α_0 such that

$$\theta(\alpha_1 + (1 - \alpha_0)\alpha_2\alpha_3) = 1,$$
 $\frac{\theta}{\theta - 1}(1 - \alpha_0)\alpha_2\alpha_4 = 1.$

Then we showed

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^{q_0}(v) \langle v \rangle^{k_3} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \varepsilon \, \|f^{q_0}\|_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}} + C(\varepsilon, E_0) \left(\int f^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{m_2} \, \mathrm{d}v \right).$$

Note that we find

$$\theta = \frac{\alpha_3 + \alpha_4}{\alpha_3 + \alpha_1 \alpha_4} = \frac{d + 2s}{d}, \qquad \alpha_0 = \frac{\alpha_1 - 1 + \alpha_2(\alpha_3 + \alpha_4)}{\alpha_2(\alpha_3 + \alpha_4)} = \frac{4sd}{(d + 2s)^2},$$

(in particular $\theta > 1$), so that

$$m_3 = m_2 = \frac{(d+2s)k_0 - d\left(\gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d}\right)}{2s} - 2.$$

This yields the result for $\iota = 1$. To get it for any ι , apply the result to ε/ι and recall the definition of $C(\varepsilon, E_0)$. We get $\iota^{1+\frac{1}{\theta-1}}$ (with $\theta-1=\frac{2s}{d}$) in front of the second term.

3. Truncated Lebesgue norms

In order to get the decay estimates from Theorem 1.6, we aim at proving that the following quantity equals zero,

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} (f(t, x, v) - A(t, v))_+^{q_0} dv dx$$

with $A(t,v) = \mathfrak{a}(t)\langle v \rangle^{-q}$ for some well chosen C^1 function $\mathfrak{a} > 0$ and some exponent q > 0. We recall that $q_0 = 1 + \frac{2s}{d}$ (see Lemma 2.2) and that r_+ denotes $\max(0,r)$ for any real number r. In order to prove that this functional vanishes when applied to a solution of the space-inhomogeneous Boltzmann equation, we investigate how it evolves with time.

3.1. Truncated Convex Inequalities. Keeping in mind that $q_0 > 1$, we thus consider the convex function $\varphi_0(r) = r_+^{q_0}$ and we would like to apply the definition of suitable weak subsolutions – see (1.8) – and integrate against $\ddot{\varphi}_0$ (see Remark 1.2). Unfortunately, we are not sure that the right hand side of (1.8) is integrable with respect to a against $\ddot{\varphi}_0(a)$. For this reason, we follow [19] and approximate $\varphi_0(r)$ with $\varphi_{0,\kappa}(r)$ defined for $\kappa > 0$ by

(3.1)
$$\varphi_{0,\kappa}(r) = (r_+ \wedge \kappa)^{q_0} + q_0 \kappa^{q_0 - 1} (r - \kappa)_+.$$

In particular $\varphi_{0,\kappa}(0) = (\varphi_{0,\kappa})(0) = 0$. We can now apply the definition of suitable weak subsolutions and integrate with respect to $\varphi_{0,\kappa}^{-}(a)$ for $a \in [0,\kappa]$. What we obtain is expressed in the following statement.

Lemma 3.1 (Truncated Convex Inequalities). Let f be a suitable weak subsolution of the Boltzmann equation with either in-flow, bounce-back, specular/diffuse / Maxwell reflection boundary condition. Then,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x + \iiint_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{2d}} d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}((f-A)_{+}, (f'-A')_{+}) K_{f}(v, v') \,\mathrm{d}v' \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x \\
+ \iiint_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{2d}} \varphi_{\dot{0},\kappa}(f-A) (A'-f')_{+} K_{f}(v, v') \,\mathrm{d}v' \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x \\
\leq c_{b} \iint_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \Phi(f) (f * |\cdot|^{\gamma}) \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x + \iiint_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{2d}} \varphi_{\dot{0},\kappa}(f-A) (A'-A) K_{f}(v, v') \,\mathrm{d}v' \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x \\
- \iint_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \varphi_{\dot{0},\kappa}(f-A) \partial_{t}A \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x - \iint_{\partial \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A)(v \cdot n(x)) \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}S(x),$$

with Φ given by,

(3.3)
$$\Phi(f) := \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A)f - \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) = \Phi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) + A\varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A).$$

3.2. Useful properties associated with $\varphi_{0,\kappa}$. The derivatives of the approximate convex function $\varphi_{0,\kappa}$ are given by the following formulas,

$$\varphi_{0,\kappa}(r) = q_0(r_+ \wedge \kappa)^{q_0 - 1}$$
 and $\varphi_{0,\kappa}(r) = q_0(q_0 - 1)r^{q_0 - 2}\mathbf{1}_{\{0 \le r \le \kappa\}}$.

Moreover, we compute for $r \geq 0$,

$$\Phi_{0,\kappa}(r) = (\varphi_{0,\kappa})(r)r - \varphi_{0,\kappa}(r) = (q_0 - 1)(r \wedge \kappa)^{q_0},$$

and for $r, s \geq 0$,

(3.4)
$$d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}(r,s) = \varphi_{0,\kappa}(s) - \varphi_{0,\kappa}(r) - \varphi_{0,\kappa}(r)(s-r),$$

so that, if $0 \le r, s \le \kappa$,

$$d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}(r,s) = s^{q_0} - r^{q_0} - q_0 r^{q_0-1}(s-r).$$

Note that if r < k, then for $q_0 > 1$

$$d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}\left(r,\frac{r}{2}\right) = c_{q_0}r^{q_0}$$
 with $c_{q_0} = 2^{-q_0} - 1 + \frac{q_0}{2} > 0$.

In particular,

(3.5)
$$d_{\varphi_0}(r,s) \ge c_{q_0} r^{q_0} \quad \text{in} \quad \{0 \le s < r/2\}$$

with $c_{q_0} = d_{\varphi_0}(1, 1/2) = 2^{-q_0} - 1 + q_0/2 > 0$. We also have for $r \ge 0$,

(3.6)
$$d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}\left(r,\frac{r\wedge\kappa}{2}\right) = c_{q_0}\left(r\wedge\kappa\right)^{q_0}.$$

4. Coercivity estimates

This section is devoted to the study of positive terms appearing in the left hand side of the family of convex inequalities associated with the approximate L^{q_0} -norm, see (3.2). The term in which $(A' - f')_+$ appears is referred to as the "good extra term" (see the introduction).

4.1. **First coercivity estimate.** In order to get our first coercivity estimate, we follow the method introduced in [11] and used in [36] and [19]. Precisely, the proof of the following proposition is adapted from the proof of [19, Lemma 3.1] in which $k_0 < 0$. We recall that $k_0 = (\gamma + 2s) - \frac{2s}{d}$.

Proposition 4.1 (Coercivity estimate for $k_0 \ge 0$). Assume f satisfies (1.3). If $k_0 \ge 0$, then there exists a constant $C_{\text{cor}} > 0$, depending on d, γ, s and constants in (1.3), such that for all $f, g: \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, +\infty)$,

(4.1)
$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}(g,g') K_f(v,v') \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}v' \ge C_{\mathrm{cor}} \, \left\| \left(g \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \right\|_{L^{p_0}_{k_0}(\mathbb{R}^d)}$$

Proof. For R > 0 (to be chosen), we define

$$T_R = \begin{cases} B_{R/2}(v) & \text{if } |v| \ge R \\ B_{3R}(v) \setminus B_{2R}(v) & \text{if } |v| \le R. \end{cases}$$

In particular, for $v' - v \in T_R$, we have $|v| \le 2|v'|$, which implies $\langle v \rangle \le 2\langle v' \rangle$.

Then we use the non-degeneracy cone $\Xi(v)$ associated with the kernel K_f and get from (2.1) and (3.5)

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}(g,g') K_f(v,v') \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}v'$$

$$\geq c_{q_0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\left\{g' < \frac{g \wedge \kappa}{2}\right\} \cap \left\{v' - v \in \Xi(v) \cap T_R\right\}} \left(g \wedge \kappa\right)^{q_0}(v) K_f(v,v') \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}v$$

$$\geq c \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\left\{g' < g/2\right\} \cap \left\{v' - v \in \Xi(v) \cap T_R\right\}} \left(g \wedge \kappa\right)^{q_0}(v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s + 1} \left|v - v'\right|^{-d - 2s} \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}v$$

$$\geq c \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(g \wedge \kappa\right)^{q_0}(v) R^{-d - 2s} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s + 1} \left|\left\{g' < \frac{g \wedge \kappa}{2}\right\} \cap \left\{v + \Xi(v) \cap T_R\right\}\right| \, \mathrm{d}v$$

where $c = c_{q_0} \lambda_0$. Moreover, for any $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we use either (2.3) or (2.2) and Chebyshev's inequality to estimate the Lebesgue norm of the sub-level set as follows,

$$\left| \left\{ g' < \frac{g \wedge \kappa}{2} \right\} \cap \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap T_R \right\} \right| \\
= \left| \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap T_R \right\} \right| - \left| \left\{ g' > \frac{g \wedge \kappa}{2} \right\} \cap \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap T_R \right\} \right| \\
\geq c_0 R^d \langle v \rangle^{-1} - \frac{2^{p_0(q_0 - k_0)}}{\langle v \rangle^{k_0 p_0} (g \wedge \kappa)^{q_0 p_0} (v)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (g' \wedge \kappa)^{q_0 p_0} \langle v' \rangle^{k_0 p_0} \, \mathrm{d}v'.$$

The last line uses that $k_0 \geq 0$. Then, we choose R such that

(4.2)
$$R^{d} = c_{1} \|g^{q_{0}}\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}}^{p_{0}} \langle v \rangle^{-k_{0}p_{0}+1} (g \wedge \kappa)^{-q_{0}p_{0}} (v),$$

with $c_1 = \frac{2^{p_0(q_0 - k_0) + 1}}{c_0}$ and get

$$\left| \left\{ g' < \frac{g \wedge \kappa}{2} \right\} \cap \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap T_R \right\} \right| \ge c_0 R^d \langle v \rangle^{-1} - \frac{c_0}{2} R^d \langle v \rangle^{-1} = \frac{c_0}{2} R^d \langle v \rangle^{-1}.$$

Therefore, with such a choice of R,

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}(g,g') K_f(v,v') \, dv \, dv'
\geq c \frac{c_0}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (g \wedge \kappa)^{q_0}(v) R^{-2s} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s} \, dv
= c \frac{c_0}{2} c_1^{-\frac{2s}{d}} \|g^{q_0}\|_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}}^{-\frac{2sp_0}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s+\frac{2s(k_0p_0-1)}{d}} (g \wedge \kappa)^{q_0(1+\frac{2sp_0}{d})}(v) \, dv,$$

and remarking that p_0 and k_0 are such that $p_0 = 1 + \frac{2sp_0}{d}$ and $k_0p_0 = \gamma + 2s + \frac{2s(k_0p_0-1)}{d}$,

$$\geq c \frac{c_0}{2} c_1^{-\frac{2s}{d}} \left\| g^{q_0} \right\|_{L^{p_0}_{k_0}(\mathbb{R}^d)}^{1-p_0} \left\| \left(g \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \right\|_{L^{p_0}_{k_0}(\mathbb{R}^d)}^{p_0}.$$

We reach the desired conclusion with $C_{cor} = c \frac{c_0}{2} c_1^{-\frac{2s}{d}}$.

Proposition 4.2 (Coercivity estimate for $k_0 < 0$). Assume $k_0 < 0$. Then there exists $C_{\text{cor}} > 0$, depending on s, d, M_0, E_0 , such that for all $f, g: \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, +\infty)$,

$$(4.3) \qquad \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}(g,g') K_f(v,v') \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}v' \ge C_{\mathrm{cor}} \, \left\| \left(g \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \right\|_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}(\mathbb{R}^d)} - C_{\mathrm{cor}} \, \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (g \wedge \kappa)^{q_0} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

In particular

$$(4.4) \qquad \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}(g,g') K_f(v,v') \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}v' \ge C_{\mathrm{cor}} \, \left\| \left(g \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \right\|_{L^{p_0}_{k_0}(\mathbb{R}^d)} - C_{\mathrm{cor}} \, \left\| \left(g \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0-1} \right\|_{L^1_{\gamma_{-d-1}}(\mathbb{R}^d)}.$$

Proof. The estimate (4.3) follows the same lines as the proof of Proposition 4.1 and is proved in [19, Lemma 3.1].

We can obtain (4.4) by applying Lemma 2.7 to $g \wedge \kappa$ and $\varphi = 1$ and $k_3 = \gamma$ and get for all $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(g \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \varepsilon \left\| \left(g \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \right\|_{L^{p_0}_{k_0}(\mathbb{R}^d)} + C(\varepsilon, E_0) \left\| \left(g \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \right\|_{L^1_{m_3}}$$
 with $m_3 = \gamma - d - 1$.

We now prove another coercivity estimate for $\gamma < 0$.

Proposition 4.3 (Second coercivity estimate). There exists two positive constants $C_{\text{cor}'}$ and κ_0 , only depending on s, d, γ and hydrodynamical bounds from (1.3), such that for all $\kappa \geq \kappa_0$ and all $f, g: \mathbb{R}^{2d} \to [0, +\infty)$,

$$(4.5) \qquad \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}(g,g') K_f(v,v') \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}v' \ge C_{\mathrm{cor}'} \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}q_0} N^{-\frac{2s}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (g(v) - \kappa)_+ \langle v \rangle^{\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

with $N = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (g \wedge \kappa)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{-(d-1)} dv$

Proof. We explain how to adapt the proof of [19, Lemma 3.2]. The only difference lies in the choice of R. In our case, we choose R = R(v') such that

$$\frac{R^d}{\langle v' \rangle} = C_0 \frac{N}{\kappa^{q_0 - 1} \langle v' \rangle^{-(d - 1)}}.$$

We can argue as in [19] by remarking that $N \leq \kappa^{q_0-2} M_0$. We thus choose C_0 and κ_0 such that

$$C_0 \frac{M_0}{\varepsilon_0^d \kappa_0} \le 1$$

to ensure that $R \leq \varepsilon_0 \langle v' \rangle$, which allows us to use [19, Lemma 2.6]. The idea is to consider the cone of non-degeneracy for fixed v'

$$S(v') = \left\{ v \in \mathbb{R}^d : K(v, v') \ge \mu_0 \langle v' \rangle^{\gamma + 2s + 1} |v - v'|^{-(d + 2s)} \right\}.$$

Then Lemma 2.6 in [19] proves the existence of $\mu_0 > 0$ depending only on the hydrodynamical quantities such that

$$|S(v') \cap B_R(v')| \ge \mu_0 R^d \langle v \rangle^{-1}.$$

The weight in N implies that the estimate of the sub-level set is modified as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} |\{g \wedge \kappa > \kappa/2\} \cap S(v') \cap B_R(v')| &\leq \frac{2^{q_0 - 1}}{\kappa^{q_0 - 1}} \int_{S(v') \cap B_R(v')} (g(v) \wedge \kappa)^{q_0 - 1} \frac{\langle v \rangle^{d - 1}}{\langle v \rangle^{d - 1}} \, \mathrm{d}v \\ &\leq \frac{2^{q_0 + d - 2}}{\kappa^{q_0 - 1}} \langle v' \rangle^{d - 1} \int_{S(v') \cap B_R(v')} (g(v) \wedge \kappa)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{-(d - 1)} \, \mathrm{d}v. \end{aligned}$$

We used that for $v \in B_R(v')$ and R such that $R \leq \varepsilon_0 \langle v' \rangle$, we have $\langle v \rangle \leq 2 \langle v' \rangle$ (since $\varepsilon_0 \leq 1$). Following the proof of [19, Lemma 3.2] and keeping in mind that $\varphi_{0,\kappa}(g') = q_0 \kappa^{q_0-1}(g'-\kappa)$ in $\{g' > \kappa\}$, we get

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}(g,g') K_f(v,v') \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}v' \ge C_{2,q_0} \frac{\mu_0^2}{2} \int_{\{g' > \kappa\}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(g') \langle v' \rangle^{\gamma + 2s} R^{-2s} \, \mathrm{d}v' \\
\ge C_{2,q_0} \frac{\mu_0^2}{2} C_0^{-\frac{2s}{d}} N^{-\frac{2s}{d}} q_0 \kappa^{q_0 - 1} \kappa^{(q_0 - 1)\frac{2s}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (g' - \kappa)_+ \langle v' \rangle^{\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}v'.$$

In view of the definition of k_0 and q_0 , we obtain the announced lower bound for some constant $C_{\text{cor}'}$ equal to $C_{2,q_0} \frac{\mu_0^2}{2} C_0^{-\frac{2s}{d}} q_0$.

4.2. The good extra term. We exhibit a third coercivity term. It controls the weighted L^{q_0-1} -norm of $(f-A)_+$. This lemma is similar to [19, Lemma 5.3], but more general since A depends on v. In contrast with the previous coercivity estimates, it is nonlinear in nature, it cannot be stated for two general functions f and g.

Proposition 4.4 (The good extra term for not-too-large q's). Let $q \in [0, d+1]$. Then there exists a constant $C_{\text{get}} > 0$ depending on m_0, M_0, E_0, H_0, d , such that if \mathfrak{a} satisfies

(4.6)
$$a(t) \ge a_{\text{get}} \quad \text{with} \quad a_{\text{get}} := 2^{d+1} (M_0 + E_0) c_0^{-1}$$

with c_0 from (2.2), then for any f satisfying (1.3), there holds,

(4.7)
$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) (A'-f')_{+} K_{f}(v,v') \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}v' \ge C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1+\frac{2s}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} \langle v \rangle^{l_{q}} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

Proof. Let R > 0 (to be chosen). We denote the "good" set of velocities by $G := \{v : \langle v \rangle \geq 2R\}$. For $v' \in B_R(v)$ and $v \in G$, we have $\langle v' \rangle \leq 2\langle v \rangle$ and $\langle v \rangle \leq 2\langle v' \rangle$. In particular, $A(v') \geq 2^{-q}A(v)$ for such v's and v's. We now use the non-degeneracy cone $\Xi(v)$, see in particular (2.1), in order to write,

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) (A'-f')_{+} K_{f}(v,v') \, dv \, dv'
\geq \frac{q_{0}}{2} \int_{G} \int_{\{f' < \frac{A'}{2}\} \cap \{v+\Xi(v)\cap B_{R}\}} \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} (v) A' K_{f}(v,v') \, dv' \, dv
\geq \frac{q_{0} \lambda_{0}}{2^{q+1}} \int_{G} R^{-d-2s} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s+1} \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} A \left| \left\{ f' < \frac{A'}{2} \right\} \cap \{v+\Xi(v)\cap B_{R}\} \right| \, dv.$$

We then use (2.2) and Chebyshev's inequality to bound the sublevel set from below for $v \in G$ as follows,

$$\left| \left\{ f' < \frac{A'}{2} \right\} \cap \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R \right\} \right| = \left| \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R \right\} \right| - \left| \left\{ f' \ge \frac{A'}{2} \right\} \cap \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R \right\} \right|$$

$$\ge c_0 R^d \langle v \rangle^{-1} - \int_{v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R} \frac{2}{A'} f' \, \mathrm{d}v'$$

$$\ge c_0 R^d \langle v \rangle^{-1} - \frac{2}{\mathfrak{a}} \int_{v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R} \langle v' \rangle^{q-2} f(v') \langle v' \rangle^2 \, \mathrm{d}v'$$

we use again that $\langle v' \rangle \leq 2 \langle v \rangle$ if $q \geq 2$ and $\langle v \rangle \leq 2 \langle v' \rangle$ if $q \leq 2$ to get,

$$\geq c_0 R^d \langle v \rangle^{-1} - \frac{2^{1+|q-2|}}{A(v)\langle v \rangle^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v') \langle v' \rangle^2 \, \mathrm{d}v'$$

$$\geq c_0 R^d \langle v \rangle^{-1} - \frac{2^d}{A(v)\langle v \rangle^2} (M_0 + E_0).$$

We choose next R = R(v) such that

$$R^d = \frac{2^{d+1}(M_0 + E_0)}{c_0 A(v)\langle v \rangle}.$$

Then

$$\left| \left\{ f' < \frac{A'}{2} \right\} \cap \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R \right\} \right| \ge \frac{c_0}{2} R^d \langle v \rangle^{-1}.$$

With such an estimate of the sublevel set at hand, we can finish to justify the estimate from below of the good extra term,

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) (A'-f')_{+} K_{f}(v,v') dv' dv$$

$$\geq \frac{q_{0} \lambda_{0} c_{0}}{2^{q+2}} \int_{G} R^{-2s} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s} \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} (v) A(v) dv$$

$$= C_{\text{get}} \int_{G} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s+\frac{2s}{d}} \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} (v) A^{1+\frac{2s}{d}} (v) dv$$

with $C_{\text{get}} = \frac{q_0 \lambda_0 c_0}{2^{q+2}} \left(2^{d+1} c_0^{-1} (M_0 + E_0) \right)^{-\frac{2s}{d}}$. Finally, since $A(v) = \mathfrak{a} \langle v \rangle^{-q}$, we have

$$G = \{v : \langle v \rangle \ge 2R\} = \left\{v : \langle v \rangle^{d+1-q} \ge \frac{2^{d+1}(M_0 + E_0)}{c_0 \mathfrak{a}}\right\}.$$

If $q \leq d+1$ and if \mathfrak{a} is such that $\mathfrak{a} \geq 2^{d+1}(M_0 + E_0)c_0^{-1}$ then $G = \mathbb{R}^d$.

We conclude this section devoted to coercivity estimates by exhibiting an improved lower bound for the good extra term in the case of large decay exponents q (in contrast with assumptions of Proposition 4.4) by taking advantage of the fact that the function is already known to decay at some rate.

Proposition 4.5 (The very good extra term). Let $q \geq 0$. Let $f: \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, +\infty)$ and $A(v) := \mathfrak{a}\langle v \rangle^{-q}$ for some $\mathfrak{a} \geq 0$ and assume there is $\mathfrak{b}_* \geq 0$ depending on $m_0, M_0, E_0, s, d, \gamma$ (and time) such that

$$f(v) \leq \mathfrak{b}_* \langle v \rangle^{-q_*}$$
.

for some $q_* \geq 0$. If \mathfrak{a} satisfies

$$\mathfrak{a} > 2^{2+q-q_*}\mathfrak{b}_*$$

then

(4.8)
$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A)(v) \left(A'-f'\right)_{+} K_{f}(v,v') \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}v'$$

$$\geq \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{\mathfrak{b}_{*}^{2s}} \mathfrak{a}^{1+2s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s-q} \,\mathrm{d}v$$

for some a constant $C_{vget} > 0$ depending on m_0, M_0, E_0, H_0, d, s .

Proof. The proof follows the same lines as for Proposition 4.4. We find

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) (A'-f')_{+} K_{f}(v,v') \, dv \, dv'
\geq \frac{q_{0}\lambda_{0}}{2^{q+1}} \int_{G} R^{-d-2s} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s+1} \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} A \left| \left\{ f' < \frac{A'}{2} \right\} \cap \{v + \Xi(v) \cap B_{R} \} \right| \, dv,$$

where $G := \{v : \langle v \rangle \geq 2R\}$ for some $R \in (0,1)$ to be chosen. Then we use Chebyshev's inequality, so that for $v \in G$,

$$\left| \left\{ f' < \frac{A'}{2} \right\} \cap \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R \right\} \right| = \left| \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R \right\} \right| - \left| \left\{ f' \ge \frac{A'}{2} \right\} \cap \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R \right\} \right|$$

$$\ge \left| \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R \right\} \right| - \frac{2}{\mathfrak{a}} \int_{v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R} \langle v' \rangle^{q - q_*} f(v') \langle v' \rangle^{q_*} \, \mathrm{d}v'$$

$$\ge \left| \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R \right\} \right| - \frac{2^{1 + (q - q_*)}}{\mathfrak{a}} \mathfrak{b}_* \left| \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R \right\} \right|.$$

We pick \mathfrak{a} sufficiently large, so that

$$1 - \frac{2^{1+(q-q_*)}}{\mathfrak{q}} \mathfrak{b}_* \ge \frac{1}{2}.$$

Then, using (2.2), we bound

$$\left| \left\{ f' < \frac{A'}{2} \right\} \cap \left\{ v + \Xi(v) \cap B_R \right\} \right| \ge \frac{1}{2} c_0 R^d \langle v \rangle^{-1}.$$

Now pick R as follows,

$$R = \frac{2^{3+(q-q_*)}}{\mathfrak{a}} \mathfrak{b}_* \le \frac{1}{2}.$$

The fact that $2R \leq 1$ implies in particular that the good set G is the whole space,

$$G = \{v : \langle v \rangle \ge 2R\} = \mathbb{R}^d.$$

We finally get

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) (A'-f')_{+} K_{f}(v,v') \, dv \, dv'
\geq \frac{c_{0}q_{0}\lambda_{0}}{2^{q+2}} \int_{G} R^{-2s} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s} ((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa)^{q_{0}-1} A \, dv
= \frac{c_{0}q_{0}\lambda_{0}}{2^{q+2}2^{2s}(3+(q-q_{*}))} \mathfrak{b}_{*}^{-2s} \mathfrak{a}^{1+2s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} ((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa)^{q_{0}-1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s-q} \, dv. \qquad \Box$$

5. Error term due to the velocity dependance of the barrier

This section is devoted to the estimate of the first error term appearing in the right hand side of the Truncated Convex Inequalities, see Lemma 3.1. We recall that it has the following form.

$$\mathcal{E}_1 := \iint_{\mathbb{D}^{2d}} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} (v) \left(A' - A \right) K_f(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

In the next paragraph, we use ideas from [26].

5.1. Not-so-large decay exponents.

Lemma 5.1 (Error term in the velocity variable). We consider a function f satisfying (1.3). Let $q \in [0, d+1]$ and $A(v) := \mathfrak{a}\langle v \rangle^{-q}$ for some $\mathfrak{a} > 0$. There exists C_1 depending on d, m_0, M_0, E_0, H_0 such that

(5.1)
$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} ((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa)^{q_{0}-1}(v) (A(v') - A(v)) K_{f}(v, v') dv' dv$$
$$\leq C_{1} \mathfrak{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} ((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa)^{q_{0}-1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{l_{q}} dv,$$

with l_q given by (vi).

Recalling that the kernel K_f is given by,

$$K_f(v, v + z) = \frac{1}{|z|^{d+2s}} \int_{v'_* \in v + z^{\perp}} f(v'_*) |v - v'_*|^{\gamma + 2s + 1} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) \, dv'_*,$$

we aim at estimating

$$\mathcal{E}_1 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} (v) \mathcal{I}(v) \, \mathrm{d}v$$

with

$$\mathcal{I}(v) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(A(v') - A(v) \right) K_f(v, v') \, dv'
= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\left(A(v+z) - A(v) \right)}{|z|^{d+2s}} \left\{ \int_{v'_* \in v+z^{\perp}} f(v'_*) \left| v - v'_* \right|^{\gamma+2s+1} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) \, dv'_* \right\} \, dz
= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v'_*) \left| v - v'_* \right|^{\gamma+2s} \left\{ \int_{z \in (v-v'_*)^{\perp}} \frac{\left(A(v+z) - A(v) \right)}{|z|^{d+2s-1}} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) \, dz \right\} \, dv'_*,$$

where we changed the order of integration in the last equality. We distinguish the singular part from the non-singular one,

$$\mathcal{I}(v) = \mathcal{I}_1(v) + \mathcal{I}_2(v)$$

with

(5.2)
$$\mathcal{I}_{1}(v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} f(v'_{*}) |v - v'_{*}|^{\gamma + 2s} \left\{ \int_{z \in (v - v'_{*})^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \frac{(A(v + z) - A(v))}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) \, \mathrm{d}z \right\} \, \mathrm{d}v'_{*}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{2}(v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} f(v'_{*}) |v - v'_{*}|^{\gamma + 2s} \left\{ \int_{z \in (v - v'_{*})^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| < \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \frac{(A(v + z) - A(v))}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) \, \mathrm{d}z \right\} \, \mathrm{d}v'_{*}.$$

We now estimate each part separately.

Lemma 5.2 (Estimate of the non-singular part)

(5.3)
$$\mathcal{I}_1(v) \leq \begin{cases} CE_0 \mathfrak{a} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - 2 - \min(q, d - 1)}, & \text{if } q \neq d - 1, \\ CE_0 \mathfrak{a} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - d}, & \text{if } q = d - 1. \end{cases}$$

In particular, if $q \leq d+1$, then

(5.4)
$$\mathcal{I}_1(v) \le C\mathfrak{a}\langle v \rangle^{l_q},$$

where l_q is given by (vi).

Proof. For the non-singular part we further distinguish two cases: $|v'_*| < \frac{1}{8} |v|$ and $\frac{1}{8} |v| < |v'_*|$,

$$\mathcal{I}_1(v) = \mathcal{I}_{1,1}(v) + \mathcal{I}_{1,2}(v)$$

with

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{I}_{1,1}(v) = & \int_{|v'_*| < \frac{1}{8}|v|} f(v'_*) |v - v'_*|^{\gamma + 2s} \int_{z \in (v - v'_*)^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2}\langle v \rangle} \frac{(A(v + z) - A(v))}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}v'_* \\ \mathcal{I}_{1,2}(v) = & \int_{\frac{1}{8}|v| < |v'_*|} f(v'_*) |v - v'_*|^{\gamma + 2s} \int_{z \in (v - v'_*)^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2}\langle v \rangle} \frac{(A(v + z) - A(v))}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}v'_*. \end{cases}$$

The idea for $\mathcal{I}_{1,1}$ is to show that |v+z| > |v| by exploiting the orthogonality $v+z \perp v_*'$ and the smallness $|v_*'| < \frac{1}{8}|v|$. In particular, $\mathcal{I}_{1,1}$ has a good sign. For the second term $\mathcal{I}_{1,2}$, we exploit the 2-moment of f.

We start with $\mathcal{I}_{1,1}$. Since and $z \perp (v-v_*')$ and $|v_*'| < \frac{1}{8}|v|$ and $|z| > \frac{1}{2}\langle v \rangle > \frac{1}{2}|v|$, we find

$$|v+z|^{2} = |v|^{2} + |z|^{2} + 2v \cdot z = |v|^{2} + |z|^{2} + 2v'_{*} \cdot z$$

$$\geq |v|^{2} + |z| (|z| - 2|v'_{*}|) > |v|^{2} + |z| \left(|z| - \frac{1}{4}|v|\right)$$

$$> |v|^{2} + \frac{1}{4}|z| |v| > \left(1 + \frac{1}{8}\right) |v|^{2}.$$

Since $q \geq 0$, $A(v+z) - A(v) = \mathfrak{a}\left[\langle v+z \rangle^{-q} - \langle v \rangle^{-q}\right] \leq 0$, we conclude that $\mathcal{I}_{1,1}(v) < 0$.

For $\mathcal{I}_{1,2}$ we find

$$\mathcal{I}_{1,2}(v) = \int_{\frac{1}{8}|v| < |v_*'|} f(v_*') |v - v_*'|^{\gamma + 2s} \int_{z \in (v - v_*')^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2}\langle v \rangle} \frac{(A(v + z) - A(v))}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}v_*'$$

we use that $\tilde{b}(\cos\theta) \leq \tilde{b}_+$ and $A(v) \geq 0$,

$$\begin{split} & \leq \tilde{b}_{+}\mathfrak{a} \int_{\frac{1}{8}|v| < |v'_{*}|} f(v'_{*}) \, |v - v'_{*}|^{\gamma + 2s} \int_{z \in (v - v'_{*})^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \frac{\langle v + z \rangle^{-q}}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}v'_{*} \\ & \leq \tilde{b}_{+}\mathfrak{a} \int_{\frac{1}{8}|v| < |v'_{*}|} f(v'_{*}) \frac{(9 \, |v'_{*}|)^{\gamma + 2s} \langle v'_{*} \rangle^{2}}{\langle v'_{*} \rangle^{2}} \int_{z \in (v - v'_{*})^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \frac{\langle v + z \rangle^{-q}}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}v'_{*} \\ & \leq \left(9^{\gamma + 2s} 8^{2 - \gamma - 2s} \tilde{b}_{+} \right) \mathfrak{a} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s - 2} \int_{\frac{1}{8}|v| < |v'_{*}|} f(v'_{*}) \langle v'_{*} \rangle^{2} \int_{z \in (v - v'_{*})^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \frac{\langle v + z \rangle^{-q}}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}v'_{*} \end{split}$$

since $2 \ge \gamma + 2s$.

Finally, we compute,

$$\int_{z \in (v - v'_*)^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \frac{\langle v + z \rangle^{-q}}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} dz$$

$$= \int_{z \in (v - v'_*)^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \chi_{|v + z| > |v|} \frac{\langle v + z \rangle^{-q}}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} dz + \int_{z \in (v - v'_*)^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \chi_{|v + z| < |v|} \frac{\langle v + z \rangle^{-q}}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} dz$$

we let ω_{d-2} denote the volume of the unit sphere of dimension d-2,

$$\leq \omega_{d-2} \langle v \rangle^{-q} \int_{\frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle}^{\infty} r^{-d+1-2s+d-2} dr + (\langle v \rangle/2)^{-d-2s+1} \int_{z \in (v-v'_*)^{\perp}} \chi_{|v+z| < |v|} \langle v+z \rangle^{-q} dz
\leq C \langle v \rangle^{-q-2s} + C \langle v \rangle^{-(d-1)-2s} \int_{0}^{|v|} \frac{r^{d-2}}{(1+r^2)^{q/2}} dr$$

for some positive constant C only depending on d and s only. We now distinguish cases. If q>d-1, then $\frac{r^{d-2}}{(1+r^2)^{q/2}}\in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ and

$$\int_{z \in (v-v'_*)^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \frac{\langle v+z \rangle^{-q}}{|z|^{d+2s-1}} \, \mathrm{d}z \le C_{q,1} \langle v \rangle^{-(d-1)-2s}$$

with

$$C_{q,1} = C + C \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{r^{d-2}}{(1+r^2)^{q/2}} dr \le C + C(1+2^{-q/2}(q-(d-1))^{-1})$$

(split the domain integration between $r \leq 1$ and $r \geq 1$).

If q < d - 1, then we simply write,

$$\int_0^{|v|} \frac{r^{d-2}}{(1+r^2)^{q/2}} \, \mathrm{d}r \le \int_0^{|v|} r^{d-2-q} \, \mathrm{d}r = \frac{|v|^{d-1-q}}{d-1-q} \le \frac{\langle v \rangle^{d-1-q}}{d-1-q}.$$

This implies that

$$\int_{z\in (v-v'_*)^\perp} \chi_{|z|>\frac{1}{2}\langle v\rangle} \frac{\langle v+z\rangle^{-q}}{|z|^{d+2s-1}} \,\mathrm{d}z \leq C\langle v\rangle^{-q-2s}.$$

If q = d - 1, then

$$\int_0^{|v|} \frac{r^{d-2}}{(1+r^2)^{(d-1)/2}} \, \mathrm{d}r \le \int_0^{|v|} r^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}r = \ln|v|.$$

This implies in this case that

$$\int_{z \in (v - v'_*)^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \frac{\langle v + z \rangle^{-q}}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \, \mathrm{d}z \le C \langle v \rangle^{-(d - 1) - 2s} \ln \langle v \rangle.$$

We thus proved that,

(5.6)
$$\mathcal{I}_{1,2}(v) \leq \begin{cases} CE_0 \mathfrak{a} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - 2 - \min(q, d - 1)}, & \text{if } q \neq d - 1, \\ CE_0 \mathfrak{a} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - d}, & \text{if } q = d - 1. \end{cases}$$

Using $\mathcal{I}_{1,1} < 0$ and (5.6) we obtain (5.3) and (5.4)

We can check that

$$\gamma - 2 - \min(q, d - 1) \le (\gamma + 2s) + \frac{2s}{d} - q\frac{d + 2s}{d} = l_q,$$

for $q \neq d-1$, and

$$\gamma - d \le (\gamma + 2s) + \frac{2s}{d} - (d-1)\frac{d+2s}{d} = l_{d-1}.$$

The proof is now complete.

Lemma 5.3 (Estimate of the singular part).

(5.7)
$$\mathcal{I}_2(v) \le C_{q,2} \mathfrak{a} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q}$$

with $C_{q,2}=\omega_{d-2}\frac{q(q+4)}{2}2^{\frac{3}{2}(q+2)}$.

In particular, for $q\leq d+1$ there holds $\gamma-q\leq l_q$ where l_q is given in (vi).

Proof. For the singular part, we do a Taylor expansion: there exists $\theta \in (0,1)$ such that

$$A(v+z) - A(v) - \nabla_v A(v+\theta z) \cdot z = \frac{1}{2} D_v^2 A(v+\theta z) z \cdot z$$

for some $\theta \in (0,1)$. Moreover, $A(w) = \mathfrak{a} \mathcal{A}(|w|)$ with $\mathcal{A}(r) = (1+r^2)^{-q/2}$. In particular,

$$\frac{1}{\mathfrak{a}}D_v^2 A(w) = \mathcal{A}''(|w|) \frac{w}{|w|} \otimes \frac{w}{|w|} + \frac{\mathcal{A}'(|w|)}{|w|} \left(I - \frac{w}{|w|} \otimes \frac{w}{|w|} \right)$$

where I denotes the identity matrix. As far as derivatives of A are concerned, we have

$$\frac{|\mathcal{A}'(r)|}{r} \le q(1+r^2)^{-\frac{q+2}{2}}$$
 and $|\mathcal{A}''(r)| \le q(q+3)(1+r^2)^{-\frac{q+2}{2}}$.

This implies that for all $w, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we have

$$D_v^2 A(w) \xi \cdot \xi < q(q+4) \mathfrak{a} \langle w \rangle^{-q-2} |\xi|^2$$
.

In particular,

$$|A(v+z) - A(v) - \nabla_v A(v+\theta z) \cdot z| \le \frac{q(q+4)}{2} \mathfrak{a} \langle v + \theta z \rangle^{-q-2} |z|^2.$$

We further note for $|z| \leq \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle$,

$$\langle v + \theta z \rangle \ge \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \langle v \rangle.$$

Indeed,

$$\langle v+\theta z\rangle \geq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(1+|v+\theta z|) \geq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(1+|v|-|z|) \geq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(1+|v|-\frac{1}{2}\langle v\rangle) \geq \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}\langle v\rangle.$$

We thus have,

$$|A(v+z) - A(v) - \nabla_v A(v+\theta z) \cdot z| \leq C_{q,2} \mathfrak{a} \langle v \rangle^{-q-2} |z|^2$$

with $C_{q,2} = \frac{q(q+4)}{2}2^{\frac{3}{2}(q+2)}$. Due to the symmetry (2.6) and the fact that $\gamma + 2s > 0$, we thus obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{2}(v) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} f(v'_{*}) \left| v - v'_{*} \right|^{\gamma + 2s} \int_{z \in (v - v'_{*})^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| < \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \frac{(A(v + z) - A(v))}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}v'_{*} \\ &\leq C_{q,2} \tilde{b}_{+} \mathfrak{a} \langle v \rangle^{-q - 2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} f(v'_{*}) \left| v - v'_{*} \right|^{\gamma + 2s} \int_{z \in (v - v'_{*})^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| < \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \left| z \right|^{2 - d - 2s + 1} \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}v'_{*} \\ &\leq \omega_{d - 2} C_{q,2} \tilde{b}_{+} \mathfrak{a} \langle v \rangle^{-q - 2} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} f(v'_{*}) \left(|v|^{\gamma + 2s} + |v'_{*}|^{\gamma + 2s} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v'_{*} \right\} \left\{ \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} r^{3 - d - 2s + d - 2} \, \mathrm{d}r \right\} \\ &\leq \omega_{d - 2} C_{q,2} \mathfrak{a} \langle v \rangle^{-q - 2} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s} \langle v \rangle^{-2s + 2}. \end{split}$$

This implies (5.7).

Proof of Lemma 5.1. Therefore, if we now denote by \mathcal{E}_1 the left hand side of (5.1), then (5.4) and (5.7) imply

$$\mathcal{E}_{1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} (v) \mathcal{I}(v) \, \mathrm{d}v = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} (v) \left[\mathcal{I}_{1}(v) + \mathcal{I}_{2}(v) \right] \, \mathrm{d}v$$

$$\leq C \mathfrak{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{l_{q}} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

This concludes the proof.

5.2. Large decay exponents. For large q's, we need a better estimate than the one obtained in Lemma 5.1 above in order to establish the propagation of decay.

Lemma 5.4 (Error term in the velocity variable for large q's). Let q > d+1 and $A := \mathfrak{a}\langle v \rangle^{-q}$ for some $\mathfrak{a} \geq 0$. We consider a function f satisfying (1.3). Assume there is an exponent $q_* > d + \gamma + 2s$ and a function on time $\mathfrak{b}_* = \mathfrak{b}_*(t) > 0$ depending only on $m_0, M_0, E_0, s, d, \gamma$ and q_* such that

$$(5.9) f(v) \le \mathfrak{b}_* \langle v \rangle^{-q_*}.$$

Then there exists C_{1,q_*} depending on $\gamma, s, d, q_*, m_0, M_0, E_0, H_0$ such that

$$(5.10) \quad \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} (v) \left(A(v') - A(v) \right) K_{f}(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}v$$

$$\leq C_{1,q_{*}} \mathfrak{a} \left(\mathfrak{b}_{*} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_{*}} \, \mathrm{d}v + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q} \, \mathrm{d}v \right).$$

Remark 5.5 (Growth of C_{1,q_*} with q_*). We will see that the constant C_{1,q_*} grows like 8^{q_*} (up to a multiplicative constant).

The proof of this lemma follows the same steps as the one of Lemma 5.1 above. We bound the left hand side of (5.10) by splitting the inner integral in v' into the non-singular and the singular parts as we did above in (5.2). For the singular part, we can use Lemma 5.3. For the non-singular part, we need to improve Lemma 5.2. We recall from (5.2) that the non-singular part \mathcal{I}_1 is given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{1}(v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} f(v'_{*}) |v - v'_{*}|^{\gamma + 2s} \left\{ \int_{z \in (v - v'_{*})^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \frac{(A(v + z) - A(v))}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) dz \right\} dv'_{*},$$

for which the following estimate holds.

Lemma 5.6 (Estimate of the non-singular part for large q's). Let q > d+1 and $A(t, v) = \mathfrak{a}(t)\langle v \rangle^{-q}$. Assume there is an exponent $q_* > d+\gamma+2s$ and a function $\mathfrak{b}_* = \mathfrak{b}_*(t) > 0$ depending only on $m_0, M_0, E_0, s, d, \gamma$ and q_* such that

$$f(v) \leq \mathfrak{b}_* \langle v \rangle^{-q_*}$$
.

Then there is a constant C depending on γ, s, d, q_* such that

(5.11)
$$\mathcal{I}_1(v) \le C\mathfrak{ab}_* \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_*}.$$

Proof. To bound \mathcal{I}_1 , we distinguish the cases $\frac{1}{8}|v| > |v_*'|$ and $\frac{1}{8}|v| < |v_*'|$, and we denote these parts by $\mathcal{I}_{1,1}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{1,2}$, respectively. We note as above that $\mathcal{I}_{1,1} < 0$, see (5.5). For $\mathcal{I}_{1,2}$ we find

$$\mathcal{I}_{1,2}(v) = \int_{\frac{1}{8}|v| < |v_*'|} f(v_*') |v - v_*'|^{\gamma + 2s} \int_{z \in (v - v_*')^{\perp}} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2}\langle v \rangle} \frac{(A(v + z) - A(v))}{|z|^{d + 2s - 1}} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}v_*'$$

we change the order of integration

$$= \int_{z \in \mathbb{R}^d} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \frac{(A(v+z) - A(v))}{|z|^{d+2s}} \left\{ \int_{v'_* \in v + z^{\perp}} \chi_{\frac{1}{8} |v| < |v'_*|} f(v'_*) |v - v'_*|^{\gamma + 2s + 1} \tilde{b}(\cos \theta) \, dv'_* \right\} dz$$

we use that $\tilde{b}(\cos\theta) \leq \tilde{b}_+$ and $A(v) \geq 0$, $|z| > \langle v \rangle / 2$, $|v| \leq 8 |v'_*|$ and $f(v'_*) \leq \mathfrak{b}_* \langle v'_* \rangle^{-q_*}$

$$\leq 2^{d+2s} \tilde{b}_+ \mathfrak{ab}_* \langle v \rangle^{-d-2s} \int_{z \in \mathbb{R}^d} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \langle v + z \rangle^{-q} \int_{v'_* \in v + z^\perp} \chi_{\frac{1}{8} |v| < |v'_*|} \langle v'_* \rangle^{-q_*} (9 \langle v'_* \rangle)^{\gamma + 2s + 1} \, \mathrm{d} v'_* \, \mathrm{d} z \\ \leq 2^{d+2s} \omega_{d-2} 9^{\gamma + 2s + 1} \tilde{b}_+ \mathfrak{ab}_* \langle v \rangle^{-d-2s} \int_{z \in \mathbb{R}^d} \chi_{|z| > \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle} \langle v + z \rangle^{-q} \int_{\frac{1}{8} \langle v \rangle}^{\infty} r^{\gamma + 2s + 1 - q_* + d - 2} \, \mathrm{d} r \, \mathrm{d} z \\ \leq C \mathfrak{ab}_* \langle v \rangle^{-d-2s} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s + d - q_*} \int_{z \in \mathbb{R}^d} \langle v + z \rangle^{-q} \, \mathrm{d} z,$$

with $C = 2^{d+2s}\omega_{d-2}9^{\gamma+2s+1}\tilde{b}_+8^{q_*-\gamma-2s-d}$, provided that $q_* > d+\gamma+2s$. Note that $\langle \cdot \rangle^{-q} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for q > d. Thus

$$\mathcal{I}_{1,2}(v) < C\mathfrak{ab}_*\langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_*}.$$

We use this to prove Lemma 5.4.

Proof of Lemma 5.4. We use Lemma 5.6 for the non-singular part \mathcal{I}_1 , and Lemma 5.3 for the singular part \mathcal{I}_2 , and find

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} (v) \left(A(v') - A(v) \right) K_{f}(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' \, \mathrm{d}v \\
= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} (v) \left[\mathcal{I}_{1}(v) + \mathcal{I}_{2}(v) \right] \, \mathrm{d}v \\
\leq \mathbf{C} \mathfrak{ab}_{*} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_{*}} \, \mathrm{d}v + C \mathfrak{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q} \, \mathrm{d}v. \qquad \square$$

6. Remaining error terms for hard potentials

In the case of hard potentials, that is to say in the case where $\gamma \geq 0$, we can treat error terms appearing in the right hand side of (3.2) all together. More precisely, we can estimate,

$$\int \Phi(f) (f * |\cdot|^{\gamma}) dv = \int \left((q_0 - 1) \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} (v) + q_0 A \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \right) (v) (f * |\cdot|^{\gamma}) dv$$

with Φ from (3.3). Note that the case $\gamma \geq 0$ is significantly simpler than $\gamma < 0$.

6.1. **Generation of decay.** We start with an estimate that is used to prove the generation of moments in the case of hard potentials.

Lemma 6.1 (Error terms for hard potentials). Let $f: \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, \infty)$ have finite mass M_0 and energy E_0 and let $q \in [0, d+1]$. There exists a constant $C_{\text{hard}} > 0$ depending on M_0, E_0, d such that for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ there holds

$$(6.1) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \Phi(f) \left(f * |\cdot|^{\gamma} \right) dv$$

$$\leq \varepsilon \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{\kappa_{0}}^{p_{0}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} + C_{\text{hard}} \left(\mathfrak{a} + C(\varepsilon) \right) \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{\kappa_{-0}}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}.$$

Proof. We first remark that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(w) |v - w|^{\gamma} dw \le C_{\gamma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(w) (\langle v \rangle^{\gamma} + |w|^2) dw$$

for some constant C_{γ} only depending on γ . We used that for $\gamma \in [0,1]$, $(a+b)^{\gamma} \leq C_{\gamma}((a^2+1)^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}+b^2)$. Let $C_{\gamma,0}$ denote $C_{\gamma}(M_0+E_0)$. We have,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(f) \left(f * |\cdot|^{\gamma} \right) dv \leq C_{\gamma,0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(f) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma} dv
\leq q_0 C_{\gamma,0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\mathfrak{a} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q} + \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma} \right) dv.$$

Using the interpolation from Lemma 2.7 with $k_3 = \gamma$ and $\iota = 1$, there holds for $m_3 = \gamma - (d+1) \le \gamma - q$, (recall $q \le d+1$) and any $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \varepsilon \, \left\| \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \right\|_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}} + C(\varepsilon, E_0) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q} \, \mathrm{d}v \right).$$
This yields the claim (6.1).

6.2. Error terms for large exponents. For large q's, the following estimate is used instead of Lemma 6.1 to establish the decay estimate.

Lemma 6.2 (Error terms for hard potentials and large q's). Let $\gamma > 0$. Let $f : \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, \infty)$ satisfy (1.3). Assume

$$f \leq \mathfrak{b}_* \langle v \rangle^{-q_*}$$

for some $q_* \geq 0$ and some $\mathfrak{b}_* = \mathfrak{b}_*(t) \geq 0$. We also suppose that $\mathfrak{a} \geq \left(\frac{2q_0C_{\gamma,0}}{C_{\text{vget}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}\mathfrak{b}_*$. Then, for any $q \geq 0$, there holds

(6.2)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(f) \left(f * |\cdot|^{\gamma} \right) dv \leq \frac{1}{2} \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{\mathfrak{b}_*^{2s}} \mathfrak{a}^{1+2s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s - q} dv + q_0 C_{\gamma,0} \mathfrak{b}_* \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_*} dv.$$

Proof. As in the proof of Lemma 6.1, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(f) \left(f * \left| \cdot \right|^{\gamma} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v \le q_0 C_{\gamma,0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\mathfrak{a} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q} + \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

Then we remark first that $\gamma - q < \gamma + 2s - q$, and we thus bound for $\mathfrak{a} \ge \left(\frac{2q_0C_{\gamma,0}}{C_{\text{vget}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}\mathfrak{b}_*$,

$$q_0 C_{\gamma,0} \mathfrak{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{2} \frac{\mathfrak{a}^{1 + 2s}}{\mathfrak{b}_*^{2s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s - q} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

For the second term we use the decay assumption (5.9) and we find

$$q_0 C_{\gamma,0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}v \le q_0 C_{\gamma,0} \mathfrak{b}_* \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_*} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

7. Main error terms for soft potentials

We next explain how to estimate the following term in the case of soft potentials, i.e. when $\gamma < 0$,

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \Phi(f) (f * |\cdot|^{\gamma}) dv dx$$

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((q_{0} - 1) \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} (v) + q_{0} A \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right) (v) (f * |\cdot|^{\gamma}) dv dx.$$

We will use the following auxiliary results.

7.1. Auxiliaries.

Lemma 7.1 (Convolution product). Let $\gamma < 0$ and $f : \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, \infty)$ have finite mass M_0 . Let $A(t, v) = \mathfrak{a}\langle v \rangle^{-q}$ for some $q \geq 0$ and suppose, for all $t \geq 0$, $\mathfrak{a}(t) \geq 2^d \frac{M_0}{C_{q,3}}$ with $C_{q,3} = \frac{\omega_{d-1}(2\sqrt{2})^q}{(d+\gamma)}$. Then there exists $C_{\text{conv}} > 0$ depending on d, γ, q and M_0 , such that

$$(f \wedge A) * |\cdot|^{\gamma} \leq C_{\text{conv}} \mathfrak{a}^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1, \frac{q}{d})}.$$

Proof. For R > 0 such that $R < \langle v \rangle / 2$, we write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f \wedge A)(v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw = \int_{B_R} (f \wedge A)(v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus B_R} (f \wedge A)(v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw$$

$$\leq \mathfrak{a} \int_{B_R} \langle v - w \rangle^{-q} |w|^{\gamma} dw + R^{\gamma} M_0$$

and for $R < \langle v \rangle/2$ and $w \in B_R$, we have $\langle v - w \rangle \ge \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \langle v \rangle$ (argue as in (5.8)),

$$\leq \mathfrak{a} \ \omega_{d-1} (2\sqrt{2})^q \langle v \rangle^{-q} \frac{R^{d+\gamma}}{d+\gamma} + R^{\gamma} M_0 \leq C_{q,3} a \langle v \rangle^{-q} R^{d+\gamma} + M_0 R^{\gamma},$$

where

(7.1)
$$C_{q,3} = \frac{\omega_{d-1}(2\sqrt{2})^q}{(d+\gamma)}.$$

Choosing $R = \left(\frac{M_0}{C_{a,3}\mathfrak{a}}\right)^{\frac{1}{d}} \langle v \rangle^{\min(1,\frac{q}{d})} \leq \frac{1}{2} \langle v \rangle$ (since $\mathfrak{a} \geq 2^d \frac{M_0}{C_{a,3}}$) yields

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f \wedge A)(v-w) \left| w \right|^{\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}w &\leq (C_{q,3})^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} M_0^{1+\frac{\gamma}{d}} \mathfrak{a}^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \langle v \rangle^{-q+(d+\gamma) \min(1,\frac{q}{d})} + (C_{q,3})^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} M_0^{1+\frac{\gamma}{d}} \mathfrak{a}^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1,\frac{q}{d})} \\ &\leq 2(C_{q,3})^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} M_0^{1+\frac{\gamma}{d}} \mathfrak{a}^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1,\frac{q}{d})}. \end{split}$$

We next collect auxiliary computations in the following lemma.

Lemma 7.2 (Auxiliary technical result). Let $\gamma \in (-2s, 0)$ and

$$1 \le q \le 2 + \frac{d}{2s}k_0, \qquad l_1 = \min(2, q).$$

If we pick

(7.2)
$$\theta = \frac{d+2s}{d-2s}, \qquad \frac{1}{\beta} = \frac{d^2+4s^2}{(d+2s)^2}, \qquad \frac{1}{\beta'} = \frac{4sd}{(d+2s)^2},$$

then

(7.3)
$$\frac{1}{\beta} + \frac{1}{\beta'} = 1, \qquad \frac{1}{\theta} + \frac{1}{\theta'} = 1, \qquad \gamma_2 \theta = 1, \qquad \gamma_3 \theta' = 1,$$

where

(7.4)
$$\gamma_1 := \frac{8s^2(d+\gamma)}{d(4sd+\gamma(d+2s))}, \qquad \gamma_2 := \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{(d-2s)(d+2s)}{d^2+4s^2}, \qquad \gamma_3 := \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{4s(d+2s)}{d^2+4s^2}.$$

Moreover,

$$(7.5) \gamma_1 \theta' < 1 + \frac{2s}{d},$$

and there holds

$$(7.6) m_1 \le \frac{2}{\beta'} + \frac{m_3}{\beta},$$

and

$$(7.7) m_4 \le \frac{2}{\beta'} + \frac{m_3}{\beta},$$

with

$$m_{1} = -\frac{4sd^{2}}{(d+2s)(4sd+\gamma(d+2s))}l_{1} + \frac{\gamma d}{4sd+\gamma(d+2s)}k_{0}, \qquad m_{3} = \frac{4sd}{d^{2}+4s^{2}}l_{q} + \frac{d(d-2s)}{d^{2}+4s^{2}}k_{0},$$

$$m_{4} = -2\frac{4sd}{(d+2s)(\gamma+2s)} - \frac{(2s-\gamma)d}{(d+2s)(\gamma+2s)}k_{0}.$$

Proof. The relations in (7.3) are verified by a straightforward computation. We then rewrite (7.5) as

$$\frac{2s(d+2s)(d+\gamma)}{d(4sd+\gamma(d+2s))} < 1 + \frac{2s}{d}$$

which holds for $\gamma + 2s > 0$.

It remains to check that (7.6) and (7.7) are satisfied. We rewrite (7.6) as

$$-\frac{4sd^2}{4sd+\gamma(d+2s)}l_1 + \frac{\gamma d(d+2s)}{4sd+\gamma(d+2s)}k_0 \le 2\frac{4sd}{(d+2s)} + \frac{4sd}{(d+2s)}l_q + \frac{d(d-2s)}{(d+2s)}k_0.$$

Then using that $l_q = k_0 + 2\frac{2s}{d} - q\frac{d+2s}{d}$ we get

$$-\frac{4sd^2}{(4sd+\gamma(d+2s))}l_1 + \frac{\gamma d(d+2s)}{4sd+\gamma(d+2s)}k_0 \le 8s - 4sq + dk_0,$$

or equivalently,

$$-d^2l_1 \le (2-q)(4sd + \gamma(d+2s)) + d^2k_0.$$

If $2 \ge q$ and $k_0 \ge 0$ then (7.6) is satisfied since $l_1 \ge 0$. If $2 \le q$ and $k_0 \ge 0$ then $l_1 = 2$, and since $q \le 2 + \frac{d}{2s}k_0$, (7.6) is satisfied if

$$-2d^{2} \le -\frac{d}{2s}k_{0}(4sd + \gamma(d+2s)) + d^{2}k_{0} = -d^{2}k_{0} - \frac{d}{2s}\gamma(d+2s)k_{0},$$

which holds if

$$\left(\gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d}\right) = k_0 \le 2,$$

which is true since $\gamma + 2s \le 2$. If $k_0 < 0$ then $q \le 2 + \frac{d}{2s}k_0 < 2$ and in particular $l_1 = q$, so that (7.6) is satisfied if

$$0 \le (2-q)(4sd + \gamma(d+2s)) + d^2k_0 + d^2q.$$

We remark that $4sd + \gamma(d+2s) = (\gamma+2s)d + 2s(\gamma+d) \ge 0$. Since $2-q \ge \frac{d}{2s}(-k_0) \ge 0$ and $q \ge 1$, we have to check that

$$\left(\frac{\gamma}{d} + \frac{\gamma + 2s}{2s}\right) k_0 \le 1,$$

is satisfied. If $\frac{\gamma}{d} + \frac{\gamma + 2s}{2s} \ge 0$ then (7.6) is satisfied. If $\frac{\gamma}{d} + \frac{\gamma + 2s}{2s} \le 0$, then we see that (7.6) holds as soon as

$$\gamma k_0 = \gamma \left(\gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d} \right) \le d,$$

which is satisfied. Indeed, $0 < -\gamma < d$ and s < 1 ensures that $-\gamma \frac{2s}{d} \le 2$. We conclude by recalling that $d \ge 2$. Thus in any case we see that (7.6) is satisfied for $1 \le q \le 2 + \frac{d}{2s}k_0$.

Finally, we rewrite (7.7) as

$$-2\frac{4sd}{(d+2s)(\gamma+2s)} - \frac{(2s-\gamma)d}{(d+2s)(\gamma+2s)}k_0 \le 2\frac{4sd}{(d+2s)^2} + \frac{d^2+4s^2}{(d+2s)^2} \left(\frac{4sd}{d^2+4s^2}l_q + \frac{d(d-2s)}{d^2+4s^2}k_0\right),$$

$$\Leftrightarrow -2\frac{4sd}{(\gamma+2s)} - \frac{(2s-\gamma)d}{(\gamma+2s)}k_0 \le 2\frac{4sd}{(d+2s)} + \frac{1}{(d+2s)} \left(4sd\left[k_0 + 2\frac{2s}{d} - q\frac{d+2s}{d}\right] + d(d-2s)k_0\right),$$

$$\Leftrightarrow 4sq \le 8s + 2\frac{4sd}{(\gamma+2s)} + dk_0 + \frac{(2s-\gamma)d}{(\gamma+2s)}k_0.$$

We thus see, that for $q \leq 2 + \frac{d}{2s}k_0$, (7.7) is satisfied if

$$\gamma k_0 = \gamma \left(\gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d} \right) \le 4s.$$

This is satisfied since $-\gamma \leq d$.

7.2. **Splitting.** We split the error term involving $\Phi(f)$ by writing $f = (f \wedge A) + (f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa + (f - A - \kappa)_+$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{D}^d} \Phi(f) (f * |\cdot|^{\gamma}) dv = \mathcal{E}_2 + \mathcal{E}_4 + \mathcal{E}_3 + \mathcal{E}_5$$

with

(7.8)
$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{E}_{2} = q_{0}c_{b} \int A\Big((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\Big)^{q_{0}-1} \Big((f \wedge A) * |\cdot|^{\gamma}\Big) dv \\ \mathcal{E}_{3} = q_{0}c_{b} \int A\Big((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\Big)^{q_{0}-1} \Big((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa * |\cdot|^{\gamma}\Big) dv \\ \mathcal{E}_{4} = (q_{0}-1)c_{b} \int \Big((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\Big)^{q_{0}} \Big(f * |\cdot|^{\gamma}\Big) dv \\ \mathcal{E}_{5} = q_{0}c_{b} \int A\Big((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\Big)^{q_{0}-1} \Big((f-A-\kappa)_{+} * |\cdot|^{\gamma}\Big) dv. \end{cases}$$

7.3. The term \mathcal{E}_2 .

Lemma 7.3 (Estimate of \mathcal{E}_2). Let $\gamma \in (-d,0]$ and $\gamma + 2s > 0$ and $q \in [0,d+1]$. Then

(7.9)
$$\mathcal{E}_{2} \leq \frac{1}{2} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1 + \frac{2s}{d}} \, \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}},$$

as soon as a satisfies for all $t \geq 0$

(7.10)
$$\mathfrak{a}(t) \ge \underline{a}^{(2)} = \max\left(\frac{2^d M_0}{C_{q,3}}, \left(\frac{2}{C_{\text{get}}}\right)^{\frac{d}{\gamma + 2s}}, a_{get}\right)$$

(with a_{get} , C_{get} from Proposition 4.4).

Proof. By Lemma 7.1 (see the assumption on \mathfrak{a}) there holds

$$\mathcal{E}_2 \le C_{\text{conv}} q_0 c_b \mathfrak{a}^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} A\Big((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \Big)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1, \frac{q}{d})} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

It suffices to check that $1 - \frac{\gamma}{d} < 1 + \frac{2s}{d}$, which is true since $\gamma + 2s > 0$, and that $\gamma \min(1, \frac{q}{d}) - q \le l_q$, which again is true since $q \le d + 1$. Thus

$$\mathfrak{a}^{1-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \int \left((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0-1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1,\frac{q}{d})-q} \, \mathrm{d}v \leq \frac{1}{2} C_{\mathrm{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1+\frac{2s}{d}} \left\| \left((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0-1} \right\|_{L^1_{l_q}}$$

where $C_{\rm get}$ is the constant from Proposition 4.4. We used the assumption on $\mathfrak a$ from the statement.

7.4. The term \mathcal{E}_3 . We consider next \mathcal{E}_3 defined in (7.8).

Lemma 7.4 (Estimate of \mathcal{E}_3). Let $\gamma < 0$ and $q \in [0, d+1+\frac{d}{2s}\gamma]$. Then there exists a constant $\underline{a}^{(3)} > 0$, only depending on the parameters $d, \gamma, s, 2 \wedge q$ and the constants c_b , a_{get} , C_{cor} and C_{get} , such that

$$(7.11) \mathcal{E}_{3} \leq \frac{1}{2} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + \frac{1}{4} C_{\text{get}} \mathfrak{a}^{1 + \frac{2s}{d}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}}$$

(with C_{cor} , a_{get} and C_{get} from Propositions 4.2 and 4.4) as soon as $a \ge \underline{a}^{(3)}$.

To prove this lemma, we show that we can split \mathcal{E}_3 as follows.

Lemma 7.5 (Splitting \mathcal{E}_3). We have $\mathcal{E}_3 \leq \mathcal{E}_3^{(i)} + \mathcal{E}_3^{(ii)}$ with

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{(i)} &= C_{3}^{(i)} \left\| (f \wedge A) \langle \cdot \rangle^{l_{1}} \right\|_{L^{p_{1}}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle \cdot \rangle^{-\frac{2sl_{1}}{d + 2s}} \right\|_{L^{p_{2}}} \, \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right) \langle \cdot \rangle^{-\frac{dl_{1}}{d + 2s}} \right\|_{L^{q_{3}}}, \\ \mathcal{E}_{3}^{(ii)} &= q_{0} c_{b} M_{0} \mathfrak{a} \, \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L^{1}_{-q}} \end{split}$$

where $l_1 = \min(q, 2)$, and $p_1, p_2, p_3, q_3 \in [1, +\infty]$ satisfy

(7.12)
$$\frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2} + \frac{1}{p_3} = 1, \qquad 1 + \frac{1}{p_3} = \frac{1}{q_3} + \frac{-\gamma}{d}.$$

The constant $C_3^{(i)}$ is given by $2^{\frac{dl_1}{2(d+2s)}}q_0c_b \||\cdot|^{\gamma}\|_{L^{\frac{-\gamma}{d},\infty}}$.

Proof. We use that for $w \in B_1$ and $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we have,

$$\langle v - w \rangle^2 \le 1 + |v|^2 + |w|^2 \le 2 + |v|^2 \le 2\langle v \rangle^2.$$

We now distinguish two domains of integration: $|w| \le 1$ and $|w| \ge 1$. We use the fact that $\gamma < 0$ to get $|w|^{\gamma} \le 1$ for $|w| \ge 1$ and we write for $l_1 = \min(q, 2)$,

$$\mathcal{E}_{3} = q_{0}c_{b} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (f \wedge A) \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \left(\int_{B_{1}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right) (v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw \right) dv$$

$$+ q_{0}c_{b} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (f \wedge A) \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \backslash B_{1}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right) (v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw \right) dv$$

$$\leq q_{0}c_{b} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (f \wedge A) \langle v \rangle^{l_{1}} \langle v \rangle^{-l_{1}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \left(\int_{B_{1}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right) (v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw \right) dv$$

$$+ q_{0}c_{b} M_{0} \mathfrak{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (f \wedge A) \langle v \rangle^{l_{1}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{-\frac{2sl_{1}}{d + 2s}}$$

$$\times \left(\int_{B_{1}} \langle v - w \rangle^{-\frac{dl_{1}}{d + 2s}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right) (v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw \right) dv$$

$$+ q_{0}c_{b} M_{0} \mathfrak{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{-q} dv$$

we use weak Young's inequality,

$$\leq 2^{\frac{dl_1}{2(d+2s)}} q_0 c_b \||\cdot|^{\gamma}\|_{L^{\frac{-\gamma}{d},\infty}} \|(f \wedge A)\langle\cdot\rangle^{l_1}\|_{L^{p_1}} \|((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa)^{q_0-1}\langle\cdot\rangle^{-\frac{2sl_1}{d+2s}}\|_{L^{p_2}} \\
\times \|((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa)\langle\cdot\rangle^{-\frac{dl_1}{d+2s}}\|_{L^{q_3}} \\
+ q_0 c_b M_0 \mathfrak{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa\right)^{q_0-1}\langle v\rangle^{-q} \,\mathrm{d}v. \qquad \Box$$

Then we estimate each piece separately.

Lemma 7.6 (Estimate of $\mathcal{E}_3^{(ii)}$).

(7.13)
$$\mathcal{E}_{3}^{(ii)} \leq \frac{1}{8} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1 + \frac{2s}{d}} \, \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}}$$

as soon as $\mathfrak{a} \geq \underline{a}^{(3,ii)} := \left(\frac{8q_0c_bM_0}{C_{\text{get}}}\right)^{\frac{d}{2s}}$.

Proof. We note that $-q \le l_q$ for $q \le 2 + \frac{d}{2s}k_0$, and $1 < 1 + \frac{2s}{d}$, so that the conclusion holds true.

Lemma 7.7 (Estimate of $\mathcal{E}_3^{(i)}$). There exists $\underline{a}^{(3,i)}$, that only depends on $d, \gamma, s, E_0, l_1, c_b, C_{cor}$ and C_{get} (see Propositions 4.1 and 4.4), such that

$$\mathcal{E}_{3}^{(i)} \leq \frac{1}{2} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + \frac{1}{8} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1 + \frac{2s}{d}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}}$$

as soon as $a \ge \underline{a}^{(3,i)}$.

Proof. For $\mathcal{E}_3^{(i)}$, we first notice that,

$$\|(f \wedge A)\langle \cdot \rangle^{l_1}\|_{L^{p_1}} \leq \|(f \wedge A)\langle \cdot \rangle^{l_1}\|_{L^1}^{\frac{1}{p_1}} \|(f \wedge A)\langle \cdot \rangle^{l_1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{1 - \frac{1}{p_1}} \leq E_0^{\frac{1}{p_1}} \mathfrak{a}^{1 - \frac{1}{p_1}}.$$

Next we choose $p_3 = \infty$ and $p_2 = \frac{q_3}{q_0 - 1} \ge 1$ in (7.12), which implies

$$\frac{1}{q_3} = \frac{d+\gamma}{d}, \qquad \frac{1}{p_2} = \frac{2s(d+\gamma)}{d^2}, \qquad 1 - \frac{1}{p_1} = \frac{2s(d+\gamma)}{d^2}.$$

Thus

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{(i)} &= C_{3}^{(i)} \left\| (f \wedge A) \langle \cdot \rangle^{l_{1}} \right\|_{L^{p_{1}}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle \cdot \rangle^{-\frac{2sl_{1}}{d + 2s}} \right\|_{L^{p_{2}}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right) \langle \cdot \rangle^{-\frac{dl_{1}}{d + 2s}} \right\|_{L^{q_{3}}} \\ &\leq C_{3}^{(i)} E_{0}^{\frac{1}{p_{1}}} \mathfrak{a}^{\frac{2s(d + \gamma)}{d^{2}}} \left(\int \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{\frac{d}{d + \gamma}} \langle v \rangle^{-\frac{d^{2}l_{1}}{(d + 2s)(d + \gamma)}} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{(d + \gamma)(d + 2s)}{d^{2}}} \, . \end{split}$$

Step 1: First interpolation. Then we interpolate with Lemma 2.6 for $k_1 = -\frac{d^2 l_1}{(d+2s)(d+\gamma)}$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{\frac{d}{d+\gamma}} \langle v \rangle^{k_1} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \left\| \left((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \right\|_{L^{p_0}_{k_0}}^{\alpha_1} \left\| (f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right\|_{L^1_{m_1}}^{\alpha_2},$$

where

$$\begin{split} \alpha_1 &= \frac{-\gamma d}{4s(d+\gamma)}, \qquad \alpha_2 = \frac{4sd + \gamma(d+2s)}{4s(d+\gamma)}, \\ m_1 &= -\frac{4sd^2}{(d+2s)(4sd + \gamma(d+2s))} l_1 + \frac{\gamma d}{4sd + \gamma(d+2s)} k_0. \end{split}$$

We can check that $\frac{-\gamma(d+2s)}{4sd}$ since $-\gamma \in [0,d]$ and $\gamma+2s \geq 0$. Together with Young's inequality, this implies that there exists $C = C(C_{\text{cor}}, c_b, E_0, l_1, \gamma, d, s)$ such that,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{(i)} &\leq C_{3}^{(i)} E_{0}^{\frac{1}{p_{1}}} \mathfrak{a}^{\frac{2s(d+\gamma)}{d^{2}}} \left\| \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}}^{\frac{-\gamma(d+2s)}{4sd}} \left\| (f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right\|_{L_{m_{1}}^{1}}^{\frac{(d+2s)(4sd+\gamma(d+2s))}{4sd^{2}}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{4} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + C \mathfrak{a}^{\gamma_{1}} \left\| (f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right\|_{L_{m_{1}}^{1}}^{\frac{d+2s}{d}} \end{split}$$

where γ_1 is given in Lemma 7.2, see (7.4).

Step 2: Second interpolation. Now we pick $\beta, \beta' \geq 1$ as in (7.2), so that (7.6) implies together with Hölder's inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{m_{1}}} &\leq \|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{\frac{2}{\beta'_{1}} + \frac{m_{3}}{\beta_{1}}}} \leq \|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{2}}^{\frac{1}{\beta'_{1}}} \|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{m_{3}}}^{\frac{1}{\beta_{1}}} \\ &\leq E_{0}^{\frac{1}{\beta'_{1}}} \|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{m_{3}}}^{\frac{1}{\beta_{1}}}. \end{aligned}$$

To bound the right hand side of the previous inequality, we interpolate again, now with Lemma 2.5 and $k_2 = m_3$,

$$\|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{m_{3}}} \leq \|\left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\right)^{q_{0}}\|_{L^{p_{0}}_{k_{0}}}^{\alpha_{3}} \|\left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\right)^{q_{0}-1}\|_{L^{1}_{m_{0}}}^{\alpha_{4}},$$

where

$$\alpha_3 = \frac{d(d-2s)}{d^2+4s^2}, \qquad \alpha_4 = \frac{4sd}{d^2+4s^2}, \qquad m_2 = \frac{4s^2+d^2}{4sd} \left[m_3 - \frac{d(d-2s)}{d^2+4s^2} k_0 \right].$$

Note that the choice of m_3 in Lemma 7.2 is such that $m_2 = l_q$, that is $m_3 = \frac{4sd}{d^2+4s^2}l_q + \frac{d(d-2s)}{d^2+4s^2}k_0$. In particular, we find

$$\begin{split} \|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{m_{1}}}^{\frac{d+2s}{d}} &\leq E_{0}^{\frac{1}{\beta'}\frac{d+2s}{d}} \|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{m_{3}}}^{\frac{1}{\beta}\frac{d+2s}{d}} \\ &\leq E_{0}^{\frac{1}{\beta'}\frac{d+2s}{d}} \|\left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\right)^{q_{0}}\|_{L^{p_{0}}_{k_{0}}}^{\gamma_{2}} \|\left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\right)^{q_{0}-1}\|_{L^{1}_{l_{c}}}^{\gamma_{3}} \end{split}$$

where γ_2 and γ_3 also come from Lemma 7.2, see (7.4).

Step 3: Young's inequality. We combine Step 1 and Step 2 with Young's inequality, so that for $\theta \ge 1$ and any $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{(i)} &\leq \frac{1}{4} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + C \mathfrak{a}^{\gamma_{1}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}}^{\gamma_{2}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}}^{\gamma_{3}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{4} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + \frac{1}{4} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + \bar{C} \mathfrak{a}^{\gamma_{1} \theta'} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l}^{\gamma_{3} \theta'}}^{\gamma_{3} \theta'} \end{split}$$

with $\bar{C} = \bar{C}(C_{\text{cor}}, c_b, E_0, l_1, \gamma, d, s)$ and $\theta' = \frac{\theta}{1-\theta}$, see Lemma 7.2 again. We used that $\gamma_2 \theta = 1$, see (7.3). To complete the proof of Lemma 7.7, we use (7.5) from Lemma 7.2.

Proof of Lemma 7.4. Combine Lemmas 7.5, 7.6 and 7.7.

7.5. The term \mathcal{E}_4 . The estimate of \mathcal{E}_4 defined in (7.8) follows with similar methods.

Lemma 7.8 (Estimate of \mathcal{E}_4). Let $f:[0,\infty)\to\mathbb{R}$ have finite mass M_0 and finite 2-moment E_0 , and let $q\in[0,\frac{d}{2s}k_0]$.

Then there exists a constant $\underline{a}^{(4)} > 0$, only depending on the parameters $d, \gamma, s, \min(2, q)$ and the constants c_b , C_{cor} and C_{get} (see Propositions 4.1 and 4.4), such that

$$(7.14) \mathcal{E}_4 \leq \frac{1}{4} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \right\|_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}} + \frac{1}{8} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1 + \frac{2s}{d}} \left\| \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_o}^{1}}$$

(with C_{cor} and C_{get} from Propositions 4.2 and 4.4) as soon as $a \geq \underline{a}^{(4)}$.

To prove this lemma, we split \mathcal{E}_4 as follows.

Lemma 7.9 (Splitting \mathcal{E}_4). Let $p_4, p_5, q_5 \in [1, +\infty]$ satisfy

(7.15)
$$\frac{1}{p_4} + \frac{1}{p_5} = 1, \qquad 1 + \frac{1}{p_5} = \frac{1}{q_5} + \frac{-\gamma}{d}.$$

We have $\mathcal{E}_4 \leq \mathcal{E}_4^{(i)} + \mathcal{E}_4^{(ii)}$ with

$$\mathcal{E}_{4}^{(i)} = C_{4}^{(i)} \| ((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa)^{q_{0}} \langle \cdot \rangle^{-2} \|_{L^{p_{4}}} \| (f-A)_{+} \langle \cdot \rangle^{2} \|_{L^{q_{5}}},$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{4}^{(ii)} = M_{0}(q_{0}-1)c_{b} \| (f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \|_{L^{q_{0}}}^{q_{0}},$$

with
$$C_4^{(i)} = 4(q_0 - 1)c_b \| |\cdot|^{\gamma} \|_{L_{\frac{-\gamma}{d},\infty}}$$
.

Proof. We use for $w \in B_1$ and $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$|v| < |v - w| + |w| < |v - w| + 1$$
,

which implies $\langle v \rangle \leq 2\langle v - w \rangle$, so that distinguishing two domains of integration, $|w| \leq 1$ and $|w| \geq 1$, we find

$$\mathcal{E}_{4} = (q_{0} - 1)c_{b} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \langle v \rangle^{-2} \langle v \rangle^{2} \left(\int_{B_{1}} f(v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw \right) dv
+ (q_{0} - 1)c_{b} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \backslash B_{1}} f(v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw \right) dv
\leq 4(q_{0} - 1)c_{b} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \langle v \rangle^{-2} \left(\int_{B_{1}} \langle v - w \rangle^{2} f(v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw \right) dv
+ M_{0}(q_{0} - 1)c_{b} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} dv
\leq 4(q_{0} - 1)c_{b} ||| \cdot ||^{\gamma}||_{L^{\frac{-\gamma}{d}, \infty}} || \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \langle \cdot \rangle^{-2} ||_{L^{p_{4}}} ||f \langle \cdot \rangle^{2}||_{L^{q_{5}}}
+ M_{0}(q_{0} - 1)c_{b} ||(f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa ||_{L^{q_{0}}}^{q_{0}}.$$

Again we estimate each piece separately.

Lemma 7.10 (Estimate of $\mathcal{E}_4^{(ii)}$). There holds

$$\mathcal{E}_{4}^{(ii)} \leq \frac{1}{8} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1 + \frac{2s}{d}} \, \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{a}}^{1}}$$

(with $C_{\rm cor}$ and $C_{\rm get}$ from Propositions 4.1 and 4.4) as soon as $\mathfrak{a} \geq \underline{a}^{(4,ii)}$ with $\underline{a}^{(4,ii)} > 0$ only depending on $C_{\rm cor}$, c_b , q_0 , $C_{\rm get}$, d, γ , s, M_0 .

Proof. We use Lemma 2.7 with $k_3 = 0$ to get for some constant $C = C(C_{cor}, q_0, M_0, c_b, d, \gamma, s)$,

$$\mathcal{E}_{4}^{(ii)} \leq \frac{1}{8} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + C \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{\infty}^{1}},$$

with $m_3 = -\frac{d}{2s}k_0 - 2$. For $q \le 2 + \frac{d}{2s}k_0$, the exponent m_3 satisfies $m_3 \le l_q$.

Lemma 7.11 (Estimate of $\mathcal{E}_4^{(i)}$). There holds

$$\mathcal{E}_{4}^{(i)} \leq \frac{1}{8} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1 + \frac{2s}{d}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{L}^{1}}$$

as soon as $\mathfrak{a} \geq \underline{a}^{(4,i)}$ with $\underline{a}^{(4,i)} > 0$ only depending on C_{cor} , c_b , C_{get} , d, γ , s, M_0 (with C_{cor} and C_{get} from Propositions 4.1 and 4.4).

Proof. We choose $q_5 = 1$ in (7.15). Then

$$\frac{1}{p_5} = \frac{-\gamma}{d} \in (0,1), \qquad \frac{1}{p_4} = 1 + \frac{\gamma}{d} = \frac{d+\gamma}{d} \in (0,1),$$

and thus

$$\mathcal{E}_{4}^{(i)} \leq 4(q_{0}-1)c_{b} \left\| \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \langle \cdot \rangle^{-2} \right\|_{L^{p_{4}}} \left\| f \langle \cdot \rangle^{2} \right\|_{L^{q_{5}}}$$

$$\leq 4(q_{0}-1)c_{b} E_{0} \left(\int \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{\frac{d+2s}{d+\gamma}} \langle v \rangle^{-2\frac{d}{d+\gamma}} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{d+\gamma}{d}}.$$

Step 1: First interpolation. We then interpolate thanks to Lemma 2.6 with $p_1 = \frac{d+2s}{d+\gamma} \in [1, p_0 q_0]$

$$\left(\int \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{\frac{d+2s}{d+\gamma}} \langle v \rangle^{-2\frac{d}{d+\gamma}} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{d+\gamma}{d}} \\
\leq \left(\int \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}p_{0}} \langle v \rangle^{k_{0}p_{0}} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{\alpha_{5}}{p_{0}}} \left(\int \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right) \langle v \rangle^{m_{4}} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\alpha_{6}},$$

where α_5, α_6, m_4 are given by

$$\alpha_5 = \frac{2s - \gamma}{4s}, \qquad \alpha_6 = \frac{(d+2s)(\gamma + 2s)}{4sd}, \qquad m_4 = -2\frac{4sd}{(d+2s)(\gamma + 2s)} - \frac{(2s - \gamma)d}{(d+2s)(\gamma + 2s)}k_0.$$

We remark that $\alpha_5 \in (0,1)$. Then Young's inequality yields for any $\varepsilon_1 \in (0,1)$

$$\mathcal{E}_{4}^{(i)} \leq \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + C(C_{\text{cor}}, M_{0}, E_{0}, c_{b}) \left\| (f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right\|_{L_{m_{4}}^{1}}^{\frac{d+2s}{d}}.$$

Step 2: Second interpolation. We pick $\beta, \beta' \geq 1$ as in (7.2). In particular, (7.7) allows us to use Hölder's inequality in order to get,

$$\|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{m_{4}}} \leq \|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{2}}^{\frac{1}{\beta'}} \|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{m_{3}}}^{\frac{1}{\beta}} \leq E_{0}^{\frac{1}{\beta'}} \|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L^{1}_{m_{3}}}^{\frac{1}{\beta}}.$$

If we now apply the interpolation Lemma 2.5 for $k_2 = m_3$, we find

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right) \langle v \rangle^{m_3} \, \mathrm{d}v \le \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 p_0} \langle v \rangle^{k_0 p_0} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{\alpha_3}{p_0}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{m_2} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\alpha_4},$$

$$\alpha_3 = \frac{d(d-2s)}{4s^s + d^2}, \qquad \alpha_4 = \frac{4sd}{4s^2 + d^2}, \qquad m_2 = \frac{4s^2 + d^2}{4sd} \left[m_3 - \frac{d(d-2s)}{4s^2 + d^2} k_0 \right].$$

Again the choice of m_3 in Lemma 7.2 is such that $m_2 = l_q$. In particular, there holds

$$\|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L_{m_{4}}^{1}}^{\frac{d+2s}{d}} \leq E_{0}^{\frac{1}{\beta'}} \frac{d+2s}{d} \|((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa)^{q_{0}}\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}}^{\gamma_{2}} \|(f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}}^{\gamma_{3}}$$

with γ_2, γ_3 given by (7.4).

Step 3: Young's inequality. We combine Step 1 and Step 2 with Young's inequality, so that for $\theta \geq 1$,

$$\mathcal{E}_{4}^{(i)} \leq \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + C(C_{\text{cor}}) \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}}^{\gamma_{2}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}}^{\gamma_{3}} \\ \leq \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| (f - A)_{+}^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}}^{\gamma_{2} \theta} + \bar{C}(C_{\text{cor}}) \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}}^{\gamma_{3} \theta'}.$$

If we pick θ as in (7.2), then Lemma 7.2 implies (7.3) and we conclude by choosing $\underline{a}^{(4,i)} = \underline{a}$ such that $\frac{1}{16}C_{\text{get}}\underline{a}^{1+\frac{2s}{d}} \geq \bar{C}(C_{\text{cor}})$.

Proof of Lemma 7.8. The result follows as a consequence of Lemmas 7.9, 7.10 and 7.11. \Box

7.6. The error term due to truncation for soft potentials. Finally it remains to estimate \mathcal{E}_5 in (7.8).

Lemma 7.12 (Estimate of \mathcal{E}_5). Let $\gamma < 0$ and $q \le q_{\rm nsl}$ where $q_{\rm nsl}$ is given in (vii). We also assume that $q \ge d - 1 - 2s\frac{d-2}{d+2s}$ if $\gamma < -\frac{2sd}{d+2s}$. There holds

$$\mathcal{E}_{5} \leq \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{\frac{d+2s}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{l_{q}} \, \mathrm{d}v$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} C_{\text{cor'}} \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d} q_{0}} N^{-\frac{2s}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (f - A - \kappa)_{+} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}v$$

$$+ C_{5} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (f - A - \kappa)_{+}^{p_{0}} \langle v \rangle^{k_{0} p_{0}} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{1}{p_{0}}},$$

with $N = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} ((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa)^{q_0-1} \langle v \rangle^{-(d-1)} dv$. The positive constant C_5 only depends on parameters d, γ, s and constants $c_b, E_0, M_0, C_{\rm get}$ and $C_{\rm cor'}$ (see Propositions 4.3 and 4.4).

Proof. To estimate \mathcal{E}_5 , we first recall its definition,

$$\mathcal{E}_5 = q_0 c_b \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} A(v) \Big((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \Big)^{q_0 - 1} \Big((f - A - \kappa)_+ * |\cdot|^{\gamma} \Big) dv.$$

Step 1: Splitting. We split the integration domain as before and we find for a constant m to be chosen later,

$$\mathcal{E}_{5} = q_{0}c_{b} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} A(v) \Big((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \Big)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{m} \langle v \rangle^{-m} \int_{B_{1}} (f - A - \kappa)_{+} (v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw dv$$

$$+ q_{0}c_{b} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} A(v) \Big((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \Big)^{q_{0} - 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \backslash B_{1}} (f - A - \kappa)_{+} (v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw dv$$

$$\leq 2^{\frac{m}{2}} q_{0}c_{b} \mathfrak{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle v \rangle^{-q - m} \Big((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \Big)^{q_{0} - 1} \int_{B_{1}} \langle v - w \rangle^{m} (f - A - \kappa)_{+} (v - w) |w|^{\gamma} dw dv$$

$$+ q_{0}c_{b}M_{0} \mathfrak{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \Big((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \Big)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{-q} dv$$

$$=: \mathcal{E}_{5}^{(i)} + \mathcal{E}_{5}^{(ii)}.$$

Note that in case that $m \geq 0$, we used $\langle v \rangle \leq \langle v - w \rangle$ for $w \in B_1$ and $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$. In case that m < 0, we used $\langle v - w \rangle \leq \sqrt{2} \langle v \rangle$ for $w \in B_1, v \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

The term $\mathcal{E}_5^{(ii)}$ is treated by checking that $-q \leq l_q$ holds true for any $q \leq d+1+\frac{d\gamma}{2s}$.

We use again Hölder's and Young's inequalities to write,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}_{5}^{(i)} & \leq 2^{\frac{m}{2}} q_{0} c_{b} \mathfrak{a} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle \cdot \rangle^{-(q + m)} \right\|_{L^{\frac{d}{d + \gamma}}} \left\| (f - A - \kappa)_{+} \right\|_{L^{1}_{m}} \\ & \leq 2^{\frac{m}{2}} q_{0} c_{b} \mathfrak{a} \kappa^{-\gamma \frac{2s}{d^{2}}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} ((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{-(q + m) \frac{d}{d + \gamma}} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{d + \gamma}{d}} \left\| (f - A - \kappa)_{+} \right\|_{L^{1}_{m}}. \end{split}$$

It is now convenient to introduce some notation. We consider for any $\ell \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$N_{\ell} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} ((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\ell} \, \mathrm{d}v \quad \text{ and } \quad M_{\ell} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f - A - \kappa)_+ \langle v \rangle^{\ell} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

We also let k_m denote $-(q+m)\frac{d}{d+\gamma}$ and we write the previous inequality under the following compact form,

(7.16)
$$\mathcal{E}_{5}^{(i)} \leq 2^{\frac{m}{2}} q_{0} c_{b} \mathfrak{a} \kappa^{-\gamma \frac{2s}{d}} N_{k_{m}}^{\frac{d+\gamma}{d}} M_{m}.$$

We distinguish two cases: $\frac{-2sd}{d+2s} \le \gamma < 0$ and $-2s < \gamma < \frac{-2sd}{d+2s}$

Step 2: estimate of $\mathcal{E}_5^{(i)}$ for not too negative γ 's. We start by assuming $\frac{-2sd}{d+2s} \leq \gamma < 0$. We use Young's inequality, so that

$$\mathcal{E}_5^{(i)} \leq \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{\frac{d}{d+\gamma}} N_{k_m} + \left(\frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}}\right)^{\frac{d+\gamma}{\gamma}} \left(2^{\frac{m}{2}} q_0 c_b\right)^{-\frac{d}{\gamma}} \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}} M_m^{\frac{d}{-\gamma}}.$$

We pick $m=k_0=\gamma+2s-\frac{2s}{d}$. We then observe that for any $\gamma\geq -\frac{2sd}{d+2s}$, there holds $\frac{d}{d+\gamma}\leq 1+\frac{2s}{d}$, and moreover $k_m\leq l_q$, provided that $q\leq q_{\rm nsl}=d+1+\frac{\gamma d}{2s}$, $\gamma\geq -\frac{2sd}{d+2s}$ and $d\geq 2$, see Lemma 7.13. This shows

$$\frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \mathfrak{a}^{\frac{d}{d+\gamma}} N_{k_m} \le \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \mathfrak{a}^{1+\frac{2s}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0-1} \langle v \rangle^{l_q} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

Moreover, we use Hölder's and Chebyshev's inequalities to bound

$$\kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}} M_{k_0}^{\frac{d}{-\gamma}} = \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}} M_{k_0}^{\frac{d}{-\gamma} - 1} M_{k_0} \leq \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}} M_{k_0}^{\frac{d+\gamma}{-\gamma}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f - A - \kappa)_+^{p_0} \langle v \rangle^{k_0 p_0} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{1}{p_0}} |\{f - A > \kappa\}|^{\frac{2s}{d}} \\
\leq \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}} \kappa^{-\frac{2s}{d}} E_0^{\frac{d+\gamma}{-\gamma}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f - A - \kappa)_+^{p_0} \langle v \rangle^{k_0 p_0} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{1}{p_0}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f - A)_+ \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{2s}{d}} \\
= E_0^{\frac{d+\gamma}{-\gamma}} M_0^{\frac{2s}{d}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f - A - \kappa)_+^{p_0} \langle v \rangle^{k_0 p_0} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{1}{p_0}}.$$

We used that $k_0 < 2$ to bound M_{k_0} from above by E_0 .

Gathering the estimates, we get in this first case,

$$\mathcal{E}_{5}^{(i)} \leq \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1 + \frac{2s}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{l_{q}} \, dv
+ \left(\frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \right)^{\frac{d + \gamma}{\gamma}} \left(2^{\frac{m}{2}} q_{0} c_{b} \right)^{-\frac{d}{\gamma}} E_{0}^{\frac{d + \gamma}{-\gamma}} M_{0}^{\frac{2s}{d}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (f - A - \kappa)_{+}^{p_{0}} \langle v \rangle^{k_{0} p_{0}} \, dv \right)^{\frac{1}{p_{0}}}.$$

Step 3: estimate of $\mathcal{E}_5^{(i)}$ for very negative γ 's. We now assume $-2s < \gamma < \frac{-2sd}{d+2s}$. It remains to bound $\mathcal{E}_5^{(i)}$ for this range of γ . We start from (7.16) and we recall $k_m = -(q+m)\frac{d}{d+\gamma}$ for some $m \in \mathbb{R}$ to be determined,

$$\mathcal{E}_{5}^{(i)} \leq 2^{\frac{m}{2}} q_{0} c_{b} \mathfrak{a} N_{k_{m}}^{\frac{d+\gamma}{d}} M_{m} = 2^{\frac{m}{2}} q_{0} c_{b} \kappa^{\frac{-\gamma 2s}{d^{2}}} \mathfrak{a} N_{k_{m}}^{\frac{d}{d+2s}} N_{k_{m}}^{\frac{d+\gamma}{d} - \frac{d}{d+2s}} M_{m}.$$

Note that

$$\frac{d+\gamma}{d} - \frac{d}{d+2s} < 0$$

for $\gamma < -\frac{2sd}{d+2s}$.

We use Young's inequality

$$\mathcal{E}_{5}^{(i)} \leq \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{\frac{d+2s}{d}} N_{k_m} + C_{5}^{(i)} \kappa^{-\frac{\gamma(d+2s)}{d^2}} N_{k_m}^{\left(\frac{d+\gamma}{d} - \frac{d}{d+2s}\right) \frac{d+2s}{2s}} M_m^{\frac{d+2s}{2s}},$$

where $C_5^{(i)}=\left(\frac{1}{16}C_{\mathrm{get}}\right)^{-\frac{d}{2s}}\left(2^{\frac{m}{2}}q_0c_b\right)^{\frac{d+2s}{2s}}$. We further bound for any $\alpha_0\in[0,1)$

$$M_m \le E_0^{\alpha_0} M_{m_{\alpha_0}}^{1-\alpha_0}$$
 with $m_{\alpha_0} := \frac{m - 2\alpha_0}{1 - \alpha_0}$

thanks to Lemma 2.4. We found,

$$\mathcal{E}_{5}^{(i)} \leq \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{\frac{d+2s}{d}} N_{k_{m}} + C_{5}^{(i)} E_{0}^{\alpha_{0} \frac{d+2s}{2s}} \kappa^{-\frac{\gamma(d+2s)}{d^{2}}} N_{k_{m}}^{\left(\frac{d+\gamma}{d} - \frac{d}{d+2s}\right) \frac{d+2s}{2s}} M_{m_{\alpha_{0}}}^{(1-\alpha_{0}) \frac{d+2s}{2s}}.$$

Then, in order to absorb the first term in the good extra term (Proposition 4.4), we need

$$k_m := -(q+m)\frac{d}{d+\gamma} \le l_q = k_0 + 2\frac{2s}{d} - q\frac{d+2s}{d}$$

For the second term, we want to use the second coercivity estimate from Proposition 4.3. To this end, we require

$$k_m := -(q+m)\frac{d}{d+\gamma} \ge -(d-1),$$

and

$$m_{\alpha_0} := \frac{m - 2\alpha_0}{1 - \alpha_0} \le k_0 + \frac{2s}{d}k_m.$$

In order to satisfy the first two constraints, q has to satisfy,

$$-(d-1) \le l_q,$$

which holds true for $q \leq q_{\rm nsl}$.

We pick m such that

$$k_m = -(q+m)\frac{d}{d+\gamma} = -(d-1),$$

and we use Proposition 4.3 with $k_m = -(d-1)$ for which we have

$$N := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{-(d - 1)} \, \mathrm{d}v = N_{-(d - 1)}$$

Thus we consider

$$\bar{\theta} = -\frac{\left(\frac{d+\gamma}{d} - \frac{d}{d+2s}\right)\frac{d+2s}{2s}}{\frac{2s}{d}} = \frac{-\gamma(d+2s) - 2sd}{4s^2}$$

and we find

$$\begin{split} \kappa^{-\frac{\gamma(d+2s)}{d^2}} N_{k_m}^{\left(\frac{d+\gamma}{d} - \frac{d}{d+2s}\right)\frac{d+2s}{2s}} M_{m_{\alpha_0}}^{\frac{d+2s}{2s}} (1-\alpha_0) &= \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}q_0\bar{\theta}} N^{-\frac{2s}{d}\bar{\theta}} M_{m_{\alpha_0}}^{\bar{\theta}} \kappa^{-\frac{\gamma(d+2s)}{d^2} - \frac{2s}{d}q_0\bar{\theta}} M_{m_{\alpha_0}}^{\frac{(d+2s)(1-\alpha_0)}{2s} - \bar{\theta}} \\ &= \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}q_0\bar{\theta}} N^{-\frac{2s}{d}\bar{\theta}} M_{m_{\alpha_0}}^{\bar{\theta}} \kappa^{\frac{(\gamma+2s)(d+2s)}{2sd}} M_{m_{\alpha_0}}^{\frac{(d+2s)(\gamma+2s)}{4s^2} + \frac{d-\alpha_0(d+2s)}{2s}}. \end{split}$$

We plug this into (7.18) and use Young's inequality, to get

$$\mathcal{E}_{5}^{(i)} \leq \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{\frac{d+2s}{d}} N_{k_{m}} + \frac{1}{8} C_{cor'} \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}} q_{0} N^{-\frac{2s}{d}} M_{m_{\alpha_{0}}} + C_{5} \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}} M_{m_{\alpha_{0}}}^{1 + \frac{2sd}{(\gamma + 2s)(d+2s)} - \alpha_{0} \frac{2s}{\gamma + 2s}}.$$

where $C_5 := \left(\frac{1}{8}C_{cor'}\right)^{\frac{\gamma(d+2s)+2sd}{(\gamma+2s)(d+2s)}} \left(C_5^{(i)}E_0^{\alpha_0}\frac{d+2s}{2s}\right)^{\frac{4s^2}{(\gamma+2s)(d+2s)}}$. We used that

$$\frac{1}{1-\theta} = \frac{4s^2}{(\gamma+2s)(d+2s)}.$$

Note that the estimate (7.19) holds for any $0 \le \alpha_0 < 1$, but we want to pick α_0 , such that

(7.20)
$$1 + \frac{2sd}{(\gamma + 2s)(d+2s)} - \alpha_0 \frac{2s}{\gamma + 2s} = 1,$$

but at the same time we need to make sure that

(7.21)
$$m_{\alpha_0} = \frac{m - 2\alpha_0}{1 - \alpha_0} \le k_0 + \frac{2s}{d}k_m = \gamma,$$

where we recall that we picked m and k_m as

$$m = -q + \frac{(d-1)(d+\gamma)}{d}, \qquad k_m = -(d-1),$$

We verify (7.21) in Lemma 7.14 below.

Finally, we conclude the proof just as in the case for larger γ above: we use that $\frac{m-2\alpha_0}{1-\alpha_0} \leq k_0$ and find with Chebyshev's inequality

$$\kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}} M_{m_{\alpha_0}} \leq \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f - A - \kappa)_+^{p_0} \langle v \rangle^{k_0 p_0} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{1}{p_0}} |\{f - A > \kappa\}|^{\frac{2s}{d}} \\
\leq \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}} \kappa^{-\frac{2s}{d}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f - A - \kappa)_+^{p_0} \langle v \rangle^{k_0 p_0} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{1}{p_0}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f - A)_+ \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{2s}{d}} \\
\leq M_0^{\frac{2s}{d}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f - A - \kappa)_+^{p_0} \langle v \rangle^{k_0 p_0} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{1}{p_0}}.$$

We plug this into (7.19) and use (7.20) to find

$$\mathcal{E}_{5}^{(i)} \leq \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{\frac{d+2s}{d}} N + \frac{1}{8} C_{cor'} \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}q_0} N^{-\frac{2s}{d}} M_{\gamma} + C_5 \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}} M_{m_{\alpha_0}} \\
\leq \frac{1}{16} C_{\text{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{\frac{d+2s}{d}} N + \frac{1}{8} C_{cor'} \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}q_0} N^{-\frac{2s}{d}} M_{\gamma} + C_5 M_0^{\frac{2s}{d}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f - A - \kappa)_+^{p_0} \langle v \rangle^{k_0 p_0} \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^{\frac{1}{p_0}}.$$

We conclude the proof for $\gamma \in \left[-\frac{2sd}{d+2s}, 0\right)$ using (7.17), and for $\gamma \in \left(-2s, -\frac{2sd}{d+2s}\right)$ with (7.22).

Lemma 7.13. Let $d \geq 2$, $s \in (0,1)$, $\gamma < 0$ and $q \leq d+1+\frac{d\gamma}{2s}$. Then

$$(7.23) -(q+k_0)\frac{d}{d+\gamma} \le l_q = k_0 + 2\frac{2s}{d} - q\frac{d+2s}{d}.$$

Proof. We rewrite (7.23) as

$$\left(\frac{d+2s}{d} - \frac{d}{d+\gamma}\right)q \le \left(1 + \frac{d}{d+\gamma}\right)k_0 + 2\frac{2s}{d}.$$

or also

$$(\gamma(d+2s)+2sd) q \le d(2d+\gamma) k_0 + 4s(d+\gamma).$$

If we now use $q \leq \frac{d}{2s}k_0 + 2$, we find

$$\left(\gamma(d+2s)+2sd\right)\left(\frac{d}{2s}k_0+2\right) \le d\left(2d+\gamma\right)k_0+4s(d+\gamma).$$

or equivalently,

$$\left(\gamma \frac{d^2}{2s} + d^2\right) k_0 \le 2d^2 k_0 - 2\gamma d,$$

which is satisfied if

$$0 \le \left(d - \gamma \frac{d}{2s}\right) k_0 - 2\gamma.$$

Now we use that $k_0 = \gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d}$. We find

$$0 \le \left(d - \gamma \frac{d}{2s}\right) \left(\gamma + 2s - \frac{2s}{d}\right) - 2\gamma = d\left(\frac{2s - \gamma}{2s}\right) (\gamma + 2s) - (2s + \gamma).$$

We divide by $\gamma + 2s > 0$ to find

$$0 \le \frac{d}{2s}(2s - \gamma) - 1,$$

which is true for any $d \ge 1$ and $\gamma < 0$.

Lemma 7.14. Let $d \geq 2$, $s \in (0,1)$, $-2s < \gamma < -\frac{2sd}{d+2s}$ and $q \geq d-1-2s\frac{d-2}{d+2s}$. There exists $\alpha_0 \in (0,1)$ such that (7.20) and (7.21) hold true.

Proof. In view of (7.20), we pick

$$\alpha_0 = \frac{d}{d+2s} \in (0,1).$$

We rewrite the constraint (7.21) as

$$\frac{d^2 - d - \gamma - dq}{d(2 - \gamma)} \le \alpha_0$$

and check that (7.21) is satisfied. It is equivalent to

$$(d+2s)(d^2-\gamma) - d(d+2s)(q+1) \le d^2(2-\gamma).$$

We now remark that for $q \ge d - 1 - 2s \frac{d-2}{d+2s}$, we have

$$(d+2s)(q+1) \ge d^2 + 4s.$$

We are thus left with checking that

$$(d+2s)(d^2 - \gamma) - d(d^2 + 4s) \le d^2(2 - \gamma).$$

We rearrange terms and get,

$$(-\gamma)(d+2s-d^2) - 4sd - (2-2s)d^2 \le 0.$$

We conclude by remarking that for $d \ge 2$ and $s \in (0,1)$, we have $d+2s-d^2 \le 0$.

7.7. Final Estimate. Combining Lemmas 7.3, 7.4, 7.8 and 7.12 implies the following statement.

Lemma 7.15 (Error terms for soft potentials). Let $\gamma < 0$. Let $0 \le q \le q_{\rm nsl}$ where $q_{\rm nsl}$ is given by (vii) and $q \ge d - 1 - 2s\frac{d-2}{d+2s}$ if $\gamma < -\frac{2sd}{d+2s}$. There exists a positive constant \underline{a} only depending on $d, \gamma, s, M_0, E_0, c_b, C_{\rm get}$, $C_{\rm cor}$ (see Propositions 4.1 and 4.4) and $C_{q,3}$ (see formula (7.1)) such that

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d}\times\Omega} \Phi(f) (f * |\cdot|^{\gamma}) dv dx$$

$$\leq \frac{3}{4} C_{\text{cor}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} + \frac{15}{16} C_{\text{get}} \mathfrak{a}^{1 + \frac{2s}{d}} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}}$$

$$+ C_{5} \int_{\Omega} \left\| (f - A - \kappa)_{+} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}} dx$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} C_{\text{cor}'} \kappa^{\frac{2s}{d}q_{0}} \int_{\Omega} \left[\left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{-(d-1)}^{1}}^{-\frac{2s}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (f - A - \kappa)_{+} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma} dv \right] dx$$

as soon as $\mathfrak{a} \geq \underline{\mathfrak{a}}$.

Remark 7.16. The constants C_{cor} , $C_{\text{cor'}}$, C_{get} and C_5 appear in Propositions 4.2, 4.3, 4.4 and Lemma 7.12 respectively.

Proof. Estimate (7.24) is a consequence of (7.8) and Lemmas 7.3, 7.4, 7.8, and 7.12.

8. Estimates for large exponents

In this section, we establish estimates that we will use to generate more decay.

8.1. Convolution product.

Lemma 8.1 (Convolution product for decaying functions and soft potentials). Let $\gamma < 0$ and $f : [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, \infty)$ have finite mass M_0 . Assume that

$$f(t,v) \le \mathfrak{b}_* \langle v \rangle^{-q_*}, \qquad \forall (t,v) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d,$$

for some $q_*>0$ and some $\mathfrak{b}_*=\mathfrak{b}_*(t)$ such that $\mathfrak{b}_*\geq 2^d\frac{M_0}{c_{q_*}}$ with $c_{q_*}=\frac{|\partial B_1|(2\sqrt{2})^{q_*}}{(d+\gamma)}$. Then

$$f * |\cdot|^{\gamma} \le C_{\text{conv}'} \mathfrak{b}_*^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1, \frac{q_*}{d})}$$

with $C_{\text{conv'}} = 2c_{q_*}^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} M_0^{1+\frac{\gamma}{d}}$.

Proof. We proceed as in the proof of Lemma 7.1, exploiting the assumed pointwise decay. For R > 0 such that $R < \langle v \rangle / 2$, we write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} f(v-w) |w|^{\gamma} dw = \int_{B_{R}} f(v-w) |w|^{\gamma} dw + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \backslash B_{R}} f(v-w) |w|^{\gamma} dw$$

$$\leq \mathfrak{b}_{*} \int_{B_{R}} \langle v-w \rangle^{-q_{*}} |w|^{\gamma} dw + R^{\gamma} M_{0} \leq \mathfrak{b}_{*} |\partial B_{1}| (2\sqrt{2})^{q_{*}} \langle v \rangle^{-q_{*}} \frac{R^{d+\gamma}}{d+\gamma} + R^{\gamma} M_{0}$$

$$\leq c_{q_{*}} \mathfrak{b}_{*} \langle v \rangle^{-q_{*}} R^{d+\gamma} + M_{0} R^{\gamma}$$

with $c_{q_*} = \frac{|\partial B_1|(2\sqrt{2})^{q_*}}{(d+\gamma)}$. Then we pick $R = \left(\frac{M_0}{c_{q_*}\mathfrak{b}_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{d}}\langle v \rangle^{\min(1,\frac{q_*}{d})} \leq \frac{1}{2}\langle v \rangle$ (since $\mathfrak{b}_* \geq 2^d \frac{M_0}{c_{q_*}}$) so that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v-w) \left| w \right|^{\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}w &\leq c_{q_*}^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \mathfrak{b}_*^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} M_0^{1+\frac{\gamma}{d}} \left(\langle v \rangle^{-q_* + (d+\gamma) \min(1,\frac{q_*}{d})} + \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1,\frac{q_*}{d})} \right) \\ &\leq 2 c_{q_*}^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \mathfrak{b}_*^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} M_0^{1+\frac{\gamma}{d}} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1,\frac{q_*}{d})}. \end{split}$$

We thus get the desired estimate.

8.2. Estimate of the remaining error term.

Lemma 8.2 (Error terms for soft potentials and decaying functions). Let $\gamma < 0$. Assume $f : [0, T] \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$, has finite mass M_0 . If for a.e. $(t, x, v) \in [0, T] \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$f(t, x, v) < \mathfrak{b}_*(t) \langle v \rangle^{-q_*}$$

for some $q_* \geq 0$ and some $\mathfrak{b}_* \geq 2^d \frac{M_0}{c_{q_*}}$ with $c_{q_*} = \frac{\omega_{d-1}(2\sqrt{2})^{q_*}}{(d+\gamma)}$, then

(8.1)
$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \Phi(f) \left(f * |\cdot|^{\gamma} \right) dv dx \leq \frac{1}{2} C_{\text{vget}} \frac{\mathfrak{a}^{1+2s}}{\mathfrak{b}_{*}^{2s}} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s - q} dv dx + \underline{C} \mathfrak{b}_{*}^{1 - \frac{\gamma}{d}} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1, \frac{q_{*}}{d}) - q_{*}} dv dx,$$

as soon as \mathfrak{a} satisfies $\mathfrak{a} \geq \bar{C}\mathfrak{b}_*^{1-\frac{\gamma}{2sd}}$ with $\bar{C} = 16q_0c_b\frac{C_{\mathrm{conv'}}}{C_{\mathrm{vget}}}$ and $\underline{C} = C_{\mathrm{conv'}}(q_0-1)c_b$.

Proof. In order to prove the lemma, we split the error term involving $\Phi(f)$ naturally into two pieces,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(f) (f * |\cdot|^{\gamma}) dv = \bar{\mathcal{E}} + \underline{\mathcal{E}}$$

with

(8.2)
$$\begin{cases} \bar{\mathcal{E}} = q_0 c_b \int A\left((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa\right)^{q_0-1} \left(f * |\cdot|^{\gamma}\right) dv, \\ \underline{\mathcal{E}} = (q_0-1) c_b \int \left((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa\right)^{q_0} \left(f * |\cdot|^{\gamma}\right) dv. \end{cases}$$

We now estimate each part.

ESTIMATE OF $\bar{\mathcal{E}}$. We first claim that

(8.3)
$$\bar{\mathcal{E}} \leq \frac{1}{2} C_{\text{vget}} \frac{\mathfrak{a}^{1+2s}}{\mathfrak{b}_{*}^{2s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1, \frac{q_*}{d}) - q} \, \mathrm{d}v,$$

as soon as the constant \mathfrak{a} satisfies

$$\mathfrak{a} > \bar{C}\mathfrak{b}_*^{1 - \frac{\gamma}{2sd}}$$

for some constant $\bar{C} = 2q_0c_b\frac{C_{\rm conv'}}{C_{\rm vget}}$ with $C_{\rm vget}$ from Proposition 4.5 and $C_{\rm conv'}$ from Lemma 8.1. Indeed, by Lemma 8.1 there holds

$$\bar{\mathcal{E}} \leq C_{\operatorname{conv}'} q_0 c_b \mathfrak{b}_*^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} A \Big((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \Big)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1, \frac{q_*}{d})} \, \mathrm{d}v \\
\leq \frac{1}{2} C_{\operatorname{vget}} \frac{\mathfrak{a}^{1 + 2s}}{\mathfrak{b}^{2s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Big((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \Big)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s - q} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

The last inequality follows from the condition imposed on a.

ESTIMATE OF $\underline{\mathcal{E}}$. We next claim there exists a constant $\underline{\mathcal{C}} > 0$ depending on s, d, γ, c_b, q_* such that

(8.4)
$$\underline{\mathcal{E}} \leq \underline{C}\mathfrak{b}_*^{1-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0-1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1,\frac{q_*}{d})-q_*} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

Indeed, by Lemma 8.1 there holds

$$\underline{\mathcal{E}} \leq C_{\operatorname{conv}'}(q_0 - 1)c_b \mathfrak{b}_*^{-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1, \frac{q_*}{d})} \, \mathrm{d}v$$

$$\leq C_{\operatorname{conv}'}(q_0 - 1)c_b \mathfrak{b}_*^{1 - \frac{\gamma}{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1, \frac{q_*}{d}) - q_*} \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

We used that $(f - A)_+ \le f \le \mathfrak{b}_* \langle v \rangle^{-q_*}$ to get the second line.

CONCLUSION. Estimate (8.1) is derived from the Truncated Convex Inequalities (3.2) after using (8.2) together with 8.3 and 8.4.

9. Proof of the decay estimate

9.1. **Monotonicity for generation.** The next lemma is obtained by combining Lemma 3.1 with (coercivity and error) estimates from previous sections.

Lemma 9.1 (Monotonicity). Let f be a suitable weak subsolution of the Boltzmann equation with either in-flow, bounce-back, specular / diffuse / Maxwell reflection boundary condition. Let

$$A(t,v) := \mathfrak{a}(t) \langle v \rangle^{-q_{\mathrm{nsl}}} \qquad \textit{with} \quad \ \mathfrak{a}(t) := a_* \left(1 + t^{-\frac{d}{2s}} \right)$$

with $q_{\rm nsl}$ from (vii) and for some constant $a_* > 0$ large enough depending on $d, \gamma, s, c_b, M_0, E_0$ and C_b . Then

(9.1)
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f - A) \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x \le \mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(t) \quad in \, \mathcal{D}'((0,T)),$$

with $\mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(t)$ such that for any T>0, we have

$$\int_0^T \mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \xrightarrow[\kappa \to \infty]{} 0.$$

Remark 9.2. The constant C_b comes from the assumption on the boundary data f_b in the statement of the main result, see Theorem 1.6.

Proof. We write q instead of q_{nsl} for clarity. We assume that a_* satisfies

$$(9.2) a_* \ge a_{\text{get}} \quad \text{and} \quad a_* \ge C_b \quad (\text{and } a_* \ge a \text{ if } \gamma < 0)$$

with a_{get} given in (4.6) and C_b in the statement of Theorem 1.6 (it is related to boundary values) and \underline{a} comes from Lemma 7.15. The first condition ensures that we can use Proposition 4.4 about the good extra term while the second one ensures that boundary terms will not appear in the Truncated Convex Inequalities, see Lemma 3.1.

We distinguish the cases of hard and soft potentials.

THE CASE OF HARD POTENTIALS. In this case, we apply Lemma 3.1 and collect estimates (4.4) with $g = (f - A)_+$, (4.7), (5.1), (6.1) to get that for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f - A) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\leq -C_{\mathrm{cor}} \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x + C_{\mathrm{cor}} \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{\gamma - d - 1}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$- C_{\mathrm{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1 + \frac{2s}{d}} \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+ \left(C_{1} + C_{\mathrm{hard}} \right) \mathfrak{a}(t) \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+ \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x + C_{\mathrm{hard}} \, C(\varepsilon) \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$- \dot{\mathfrak{a}}(t) \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{-q}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x$$

we then pick $\varepsilon = C_{\rm cor}/2$ and get,

$$\leq -\frac{C_{\text{cor}}}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} dx$$

$$+ \bar{C} \left(-\bar{c} \mathfrak{a}^{1 + \frac{2s}{d}} + 1 + \mathfrak{a}(t) - \dot{\mathfrak{a}}(t) \right) \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} dx$$

for some positive constants \bar{C} and \bar{c} depending on $C_{\rm cor}$, $C_{\rm get}$, $C_{\rm hard}$, $C(C_{\rm cor})$, C_1 , d and s. The last inequality follows from the fact that $\gamma - d - 1 \le l_q$ and $-q \le l_q$ (recall that $\dot{\mathfrak{a}} < 0$ and l_q is given in (vi)) for $q \le d+1$ and $\gamma \ge 0$. Finally, we choose a_* large enough (depending on \bar{c} , d and s) such that

$$(9.3) -\bar{c}\,\mathfrak{a}^{1+\frac{2s}{d}}(t)+1+\mathfrak{a}(t)-\dot{\mathfrak{a}}(t)\leq 0.$$

In particular, this yields, $\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa} ((f-A)_+) \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x \leq 0$ and concludes the proof for hard potentials $(\gamma \geq 0)$.

THE CASE OF SOFT POTENTIALS. In this case, we apply Lemma 3.1 and collect estimates (4.4) with $g = (f - A)_+, (4.7), (5.1), (7.24)$ and use Lemma 3.1 to deduce,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} & \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\ & \leq -C_{\mathrm{cor}} \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x + C_{\mathrm{cor}} \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x \\ & - C_{\mathrm{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1+\frac{2s}{d}} \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x + C_{1} \mathfrak{a}(t) \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x \\ & + \frac{3}{4} C_{\mathrm{cor}} \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{15}{16} C_{\mathrm{get}} \, \mathfrak{a}^{1+\frac{2s}{d}} \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} \right\|_{L_{l_{q}}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x \\ & + C_{5} \int_{\Omega} \left\| (f-A-\kappa)_{+} \right\|_{L_{k_{0}}^{p_{0}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x - \dot{\mathfrak{a}}(t) \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f-A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} \right\|_{L_{-q}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

Using that $-q \leq l_q$ for $q \leq d+1+\frac{\gamma d}{2s}$ (and in particular for $q=q_{\rm nsl}$), we get,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \bar{C} \left(-\bar{c}\mathfrak{a}^{1+\frac{2s}{d}}(t) + \mathfrak{a}(t) - \dot{\mathfrak{a}}(t) \right) \int_{\Omega} \left\| \left((f-A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0-1} \right\|_{L^1_{l_q}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \,\mathrm{d}x + C_5 \int_{\Omega} \left\| (f-A-\kappa)_+ \right\|_{L^{p_0}_{k_0}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

Finally, we choose a_* such that both (9.2) and (9.3) (for a new \bar{c}) hold true and we get

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa} ((f - A)_+) \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x \le \mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(t),$$

with

$$\mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(t) = C_5 \int_{\Omega} \|(f - A - \kappa)_+\|_{L_{k_0}^{p_0}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Finally we notice that $f \in L^1([0,T] \times \Omega; L^{p_0}_{k_0}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ ensures that,

$$\int_0^T \mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \to 0 \quad \text{as } \kappa \to \infty.$$

This concludes the proof in the case of soft potentials.

9.2. **Proof of generation for not so large exponents.** We now state and prove a result that will be used several times.

Lemma 9.3 (Monotonicity implies decrease). Let f be a suitable weak subsolution of the Boltzmann equation with either in-flow, bounce-back, specular / diffuse / Maxwell reflection boundary condition. Let

$$A(t,v) := \mathfrak{a}(t)\langle v \rangle^{-q}$$

for some smooth bounded function $\mathfrak{a}:(0,T)\to(0,+\infty)$ and for some $q\geq 0$. Assume that

(9.4)
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f - A) \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x \le \mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(t) \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}'((0,T)),$$

for some $\mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(t)$ such that for any T > 0, we have

$$\int_0^T \mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \xrightarrow[\kappa \to \infty]{} 0.$$

Then $f(t, x, v) \leq A(t, v)$ almost everywhere in $(0, T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proof. For all $t \in (0,T)$, we define

(9.5)
$$m_{\kappa}(t) := \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f - A)(t, x, v) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Since $\varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) \in L^1((0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$, there holds $m_{\kappa} \in L^1((0,T))$.

STEP 1. LEBESGUE POINTS. We now take two Lebesgue points $t_1, t_2 \in (0, T)$ such that $t_1 < t_2$, and we consider for any $\varepsilon > 0$ the following cutoff $\eta_{\varepsilon} \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ in time given by

$$\eta_{\varepsilon}(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\varepsilon}(t_2 - t), & \text{if } t \in [t_2 - \varepsilon, t_2), \\ 1, & \text{if } t \in (t_1 + \varepsilon, t_2 - \varepsilon), \\ \frac{1}{\varepsilon}(t - t_1), & \text{if } t \in (t_1, t_1 + \varepsilon], \\ 0, & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Then we test (9.1) with η_{ε} and integrate over (0, T), so that

$$\int_0^T m_{\kappa}'(t)\eta_{\varepsilon}(t) dt \le \int_0^T \mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(t)\eta_{\varepsilon}(t) dt.$$

The left hand side yields

$$\int_0^T m_{\kappa}'(t) \eta_{\varepsilon}(t) dt = -\int_0^T m(t) \eta_{\varepsilon}'(t) dt = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{t_2 - \varepsilon}^{t_2} m(t) dt - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{t_1}^{t_1 + \varepsilon} m(t) dt,$$

so that we deduce after taking $\varepsilon \to 0$, we deduce that for almost every $t_1, t_2 \in (0, T)$ with $t_1 < t_2$,

(9.6)
$$m_{\kappa}(t_2) - m_{\kappa}(t_1) \le \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

Note that the right hand side converges to 0 as $\kappa \to \infty$. It also converges to 0 as $t_2 \to t_1$ or as $t_1 \to t_2$, so that $m_{\kappa}(t)$ is (coincides a.e. with a) càdlàg (function) and the values of $m_{\kappa}(t)$ are well-defined for all $t \in (0,T)$, see [36, Corollary 4.9.1]. We deduce from (9.6) that m_{∞} is non-increasing in (0,T).

STEP 2. SHIFTING THE BARRIER IN TIME. To finish the proof of Theorem 1.6, it is sufficient to show that $m_{\infty}(t) = 0$ for a.e. $t \in (0,T)$. Indeed this in turn implies $f(t,x,v) \leq \mathfrak{a}(t)\langle v \rangle^{-q}$ for almost every $(t, x, v) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

Even if m_{∞} is monotonically decreasing, the difficulty is that $m_{\infty}(t)$ is not defined at t=0. The following argument is taken from [36, Proof of Theorem 1.1]. We define a shifted version of the function m defined in (9.5),

$$m_{\kappa,t_1}(t) := \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa} \big(f(t,x,v) - A(t-t_1,v) \big) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

After updating \mathfrak{a} , we know from Step 1 that $m_{\infty,t_1}(t)$ is monotonically decreasing for $t \in (t_1,T)$. Since $\mathfrak{a}(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to 0$, we note

$$\lim_{t_1 \to t_2} m_{\infty, t_1}(t_2) = 0.$$

Thus for any $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ there exists $t_1 \in (0,t_2)$ such that $m_{\infty,t_1}(t_2) < \varepsilon$. Moreover, there holds for a.e. $t \in (t_2, T)$

$$m_{\infty,t_2}(t) \le m_{\infty,t_1}(t) \le m_{\infty,t_1}(t_2) < \varepsilon.$$

As $\varepsilon > 0$ was arbitrary, we deduce $m_{\infty,t_2}(t) = 0$ for a.e. $t \in (t_2,T)$. This implies that for a.e. $t_2 \in (0,T)$ and $t \in (t_2, T)$, we have $(x, v) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$, $f(t, x, v) \leq A(t - t_2, v)$. We can now fix $t_0 > 0$ and consider $t_2 < t_0 < t$ and outside the sets of null measure. By letting $t_2 \to 0$, this implies $f(t, x, v) \le A(t, v)$ for $t > t_0$. Since t_0 is arbitrary, the proof is complete.

Proof of Theorem 1.6 for not so large q's. It is enough to deal with the case $q = q_{\rm nsl}$. In this case, the conclusion of the theorem is a consequence of Lemmas 9.1 and 9.3.

9.3. Improving decay. In order to prove the appearance of decay for large values of the exponent q, we improve it iteratively. We start from Lemma 3.1 and write,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} d_{\varphi_{0,\kappa}}((f-A)_{+},(f'-A')_{+}) K_{f}(v,v') \,\mathrm{d}v' \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x
+ \int_{\Omega} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) (A'-f')_{+} K_{f}(v,v') \,\mathrm{d}v' \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x
\leq c_{b} \int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \Phi(f) (f*|\cdot|^{\gamma}) \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) (A'-A) K_{f}(v,v') \,\mathrm{d}v' \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x
- \int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A) \partial_{t}A \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x - \int_{\partial\Omega} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \varphi_{0,\kappa}(f-A)(v\cdot n(x)) \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}S(x).$$

We recall that we assume that, depending on the boundary condition that we impose, $f \leq f_b \leq \mathfrak{a}(t) \langle v \rangle^{-q}$ on Γ_{-} , so that the boundary term vanishes.

When q is lower or equal to d+1, we can use the lower bound from the good extra term from Proposition 4.4 and estimate the error term due to the v-dependance of A thanks to Lemma 5.1 and the convolution term thanks to Lemma 6.1.

When q is greater than d+1, for the term on the second line we use the coercivity estimate from Proposition 4.5. Finally, for the error terms and q large, we use Lemma 5.4 to estimate \mathcal{E}_1 and either Lemma 6.2 (in case of hard potentials) or Lemma 8.2 (in case of soft potentials) to estimate the term involving the convolution.

9.3.1. Hard potentials.

Lemma 9.4 (Improving decay – hard potentials). Let $\gamma \geq 0$ be such that $0 < \gamma + 2s < 1$ and $q_* \geq d + 1$ and $q = q_* + 2s$. If

$$f \leq C_{q_*}(1+t^{-\beta_{q_*}})\langle v \rangle^{-q_*}, \quad a.e. \ in \ (0,T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d,$$

then

$$f \leq C_q(1+t^{-\beta_q})\langle v \rangle^{-q}, \quad a.e. \ in \ (0,T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$$

with $\beta_q = \frac{1+2s}{2s}\beta_{q_*}$ and $C_q = a_*C_{q_*}^{1+\frac{1}{2s}}$ with a_* only depending on $d,\gamma,s,C_{\text{vget}},C_{\gamma,0},C_b,\ \beta_{q_*}$ and C_{1,q_*} from Lemma 5.4.

Proof. We consider the barrier $A(t,v) = \mathfrak{a}(t)\langle v \rangle^{-q}$ and the function $\mathfrak{a}(t) = C_q(1+t^{-\beta_q})$. It is convenient to write

(9.7)
$$\mathfrak{b}_*(t) = C_{q_*}(1 + t^{-\beta_{q_*}}).$$

TRUNCATED CONVEX INEQUALITIES. Without loss of generality, we can assume that $C_{q_*} \geq 1$, so that $\mathfrak{b}_*(t) \geq 1$. We impose that

(9.8)
$$\mathfrak{a} \ge \underline{c} \,\mathfrak{b}_* \quad \text{with} \quad \underline{c} = \max \left(2^{2+2s}, \left(\frac{2q_0 C_{\gamma,0}}{C_{\text{vget}}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}, C_b \right)$$

so that we can use Proposition 4.5, Lemma 5.4 (since q > d + 1 and $q_* > d + \gamma + 2s$), Lemma 6.2 (since $q_* \ge 0$) in order to write

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa} \big(f - A \big) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x &\leq C_{1,q_*} \mathfrak{a}(t) \mathfrak{b}_*(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \big((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \big)^{q_0 - 1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_*} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\quad + C_{1,q_*} \mathfrak{a}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \big((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \big)^{q_0 - 1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\quad + q_0 C_{\gamma,0} \mathfrak{b}_*(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \big((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \big)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_*} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\quad - \dot{\mathfrak{a}}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \big((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \big)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{-q} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{2} \frac{C_{\mathrm{vget}}}{\mathfrak{b}_*^{2s}(t)} \mathfrak{a}^{1 + 2s}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \big((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \big)^{q_0 - 1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s - q} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

Using the fact that $q = q_* + 2s$ and $-2s \le \gamma$, we get,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa} (f - A) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C_{1,q_*} (\mathfrak{b}_*(t) + 1) \, \mathfrak{a}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_*} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
+ q_0 C_{\gamma,0} \mathfrak{b}_*(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_*} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
- \dot{\mathfrak{a}}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_*} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
- \frac{1}{2} \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{\mathfrak{b}_*^{2s}(t)} \mathfrak{a}^{1 + 2s}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_+ \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_0 - 1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma - q_*} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

We also impose to \mathfrak{a} to satisfy,

(9.9)
$$-\dot{\mathfrak{a}}(t) + C_{1,q_*} (\mathfrak{b}_*(t) + 1)\mathfrak{a}(t) + q_0 C_{\gamma,0} \mathfrak{b}_*(t) \le \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{2\mathfrak{b}_*^{2s}(t)} \mathfrak{a}^{1+2s}(t).$$

CONSTRUCTION OF THE TIME BARRIER. We now consider

$$\mathfrak{a}(t) = a_* \mathfrak{b}_*^{1 + \frac{1}{2s}}$$

and we choose $a_* \geq 1$ large enough so that \mathfrak{a} satisfies both (9.8) and (9.9). In order to satisfy (9.8), we remark that $\mathfrak{b}_* \geq C_{q_*}$ and in particular $\mathfrak{a} \geq a_* C_{q_*}^{\frac{1}{2s}} \mathfrak{b}_*$, so that (9.8) holds true if we impose

$$(9.10) a_* \ge C_{q_*}^{-\frac{1}{2s}} \underline{c} = C_{q_*}^{-\frac{1}{2s}} \max \left(2^{2+2s}, \left(\frac{2q_0 C_{\gamma,0}}{C_{\text{vget}}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}, C_b \right).$$

As far as (9.9) is concerned, we plug $\mathfrak{a} = a_* \mathfrak{b}_*^{1 + \frac{1}{2s}}$ into the ODE and get (after dividing by $a_* \mathfrak{b}_*^{\frac{1}{2s}}$),

$$\frac{1+2s}{2s}(-\dot{\mathfrak{b}_*})(t) + C_{1,q_*}\mathfrak{b}_*^2(t) + (C_{1,q_*} + \underline{c}^{-1}q_0C_{\gamma,0})\mathfrak{b}_*(t) \le \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{2}a_*^{2s}\mathfrak{b}_*^2(t)$$

(we used that $a_* \geq C_{q_*}^{-\frac{1}{2s}}\underline{c} \geq \mathfrak{b}_*^{-\frac{1}{2s}}\underline{c}$). Since we have $\mathfrak{b}_*(t) \geq 1$, this amounts to check that

$$\frac{1+2s}{2s}(-\dot{\mathfrak{b}_*})(t) + \left(2C_{1,q_*} + \underline{c}^{-1}q_0C_{\gamma,0}\right)\mathfrak{b}_*^2(t) \le \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{2}a_*^{2s}\mathfrak{b}_*^2(t).$$

We now pick a_* such that

(9.11)
$$a_* \ge \left(2C_{1,q_*} + \underline{c}^{-1}q_0C_{\gamma,0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2s}} \left(\frac{4}{C_{\text{vget}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}$$

and we are left with verifying that

$$(-\dot{\mathfrak{b}_*})(t) \le \frac{2sC_{\text{vget}}}{4(1+2s)} a_*^{2s} \mathfrak{b}_*^2(t).$$

Recalling that \mathfrak{b}_* is given by (9.7), we have to check that for all t > 0,

$$C_{q_*}^{-1}\beta_{q_*}t^{-\beta_{q_*}-1} \le \frac{2sC_{\text{vget}}}{4(1+2s)}a_*^{2s}(1+t^{-\beta_{q_*}})^2.$$

It is enough to pick a_* such that

(9.12)
$$a_* \ge C_{q_*}^{-\frac{1}{2s}} \left(\frac{4(1+2s)\beta_{q_*}}{2sC_{\text{vget}}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}$$

(we used that $t^{-\beta_{q_*}-1} \le (1 + t^{-\beta_{q_*}})^2$ for all t > 0 since $\beta_{q_*} > 1$).

CONCLUSION. Thanks to Lemma 9.3, we thus conclude for $\beta_q = \left(1 + \frac{1}{2s}\right)\beta_{q_*}$

$$f \le a_* C_{q_*}^{1 + \frac{1}{2s}} (1 + t^{-\beta_{q_*}})^{1 + \frac{1}{2s}} \langle v \rangle^{-q} \le a_* C_{q_*}^{1 + \frac{1}{2s}} 2^{\frac{1}{2s}} (1 + t^{-\beta_q}) \langle v \rangle^{-q}.$$

(we used the convexity of $r \mapsto r^{1+\frac{1}{2s}}$) as soon as $a_* \ge 1$ satisfies (9.10), (9.11) and (9.12). Since we assume $C_{q_*} \ge 1$, it is enough to impose,

$$a_* \geq \max\left(\underline{c}, \left(2C_{1,q_*} + \underline{c}^{-1}q_0C_{\gamma,0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2s}} \left(\frac{4}{C_{\text{vget}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}, \left(\frac{4(1+2s)\beta_{q_*}}{2sC_{\text{vget}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}\right)$$
 with $\underline{c} = \max\left(2^{2+2s}, \left(\frac{2q_0C_{\gamma,0}}{C_{\text{vget}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}, C_b\right)$.

9.3.2. Soft potentials.

Lemma 9.5 (Improving decay – soft potentials). Let $\gamma < 0$ be such that $0 < \gamma + 2s < 1$ and q_{nsl} be given by (vii). If for some $q_* \ge q_{nsl}$,

$$f \leq C_{q_*}(1+t^{-\beta_{q_*}})\langle v \rangle^{-q_*}, \quad a.e. \ in (0,T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d,$$

then for $q = q_* + \delta_*$, there holds

$$f \leq C_q(1+t^{-\beta_q})\langle v \rangle^{-q},$$
 a.e. $in(0,T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$

with

(9.13)
$$\delta_* = \begin{cases} \min\left(\gamma + 2s - \gamma \frac{q_*}{d}, d + 1 - q_*\right) & \text{if } q_* < d\\ \min(2s, d + 1 - q_*) & \text{if } d \le q_* < d + 1\\ 2s & \text{if } q_* \ge d + 1 \end{cases}$$

and $\beta_q = \frac{1+2s}{2s}\beta_{q_*}$ and $C_q = a_*C_{q_*}^{1+\frac{1}{2s}}$ with a_* only depending on $d, \gamma, s, C_{\text{vget}}, C_{\gamma,0}, C_b$ and q_*, β_{q_*} and C_{q_*} .

Remark 9.6. See (9.15) and (9.17) in the proof of the lemma for conditions on a_* .

Proof. We consider again the barrier $A(t, v) = \mathfrak{a}(t)\langle v \rangle^{-q}$ with $q = q_* + \delta_*$ (with δ_* to be chosen) and the function \mathfrak{a} such that for all $t \in [0, T)$, $\mathfrak{a}(t) \geq C_b$. We also write $\mathfrak{b}_*(t)$ for $C_{q_*}(1 + t^{-\beta_{q_*}})$ and we can assume without loss of generality that

$$C_{q_*} \ge 2^d \frac{M_0}{c_{q_*}}$$
 and $C_{q_*} \ge 1$

(see the statement of Lemma 8.2 for the definition of c_{q_*}).

Let $q_* < d+1$. We remark that in this case, δ_* is chosen so that $q = q_* + \delta_* \le d+1$. We impose that

(9.14)
$$\mathfrak{a} \geq C_b \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{a} \geq 2^{2+\delta_*}\mathfrak{b}_* \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{a} \geq \overline{C}\mathfrak{b}_*^{1-\frac{\gamma}{2sd}}$$

so that we can apply Proposition 4.5, Lemma 5.1 (since $q \le d+1$), and Lemma 8.2, and get

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa} (f - A) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{\mathfrak{b}_{*}^{2s}} \mathfrak{a}^{1+2s} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} (v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s - q} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
\leq \frac{1}{2} C_{\text{vget}} \frac{\mathfrak{a}^{1+2s}}{\mathfrak{b}_{*}^{2s}} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma + 2s - q} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
+ \underbrace{C} \mathfrak{b}_{*}^{1 - \frac{\gamma}{d}} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{\gamma \min(1, \frac{q_{*}}{d}) - q_{*}} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
+ C_{1} \mathfrak{a}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{q_{0}} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
- \dot{\mathfrak{a}}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0} - 1} \langle v \rangle^{-q} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

We remark that $l_q \leq \gamma + 2s - q$ since $q > q_{\rm nsl} \geq 1$. We also have $\gamma \min(1, \frac{q_*}{d}) - q_* \leq \gamma + 2s - q$ by the choice of δ_* in (9.13). We look for \mathfrak{a} such that

$$-\dot{\mathfrak{a}} + C_1 \mathfrak{a} + \underline{C} \mathfrak{b}_*^{1 - \frac{\gamma}{d}} \leq \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{2\mathfrak{h}^{2s}} \mathfrak{a}^{1 + 2s}$$

We plug next $\mathfrak{a} = a_* \mathfrak{b}_*^{1 + \frac{1}{2s}}$ and get (after dividing by $a_* \mathfrak{b}_*^{\frac{1}{2s}}$),

$$-\frac{1+2s}{2s}\dot{\mathfrak{b}_*} + C_1\mathfrak{b}_* + \underline{C}a_*^{-1}\mathfrak{b}_*^{1-\frac{\gamma}{d}-\frac{1}{2s}} \leq \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{2}a_*^{2s}\mathfrak{b}_*^2.$$

We remark next that since $\mathfrak{b}_* \geq 1$ and $a_* \geq 1$ and $1 - \frac{\gamma}{d} - \frac{1}{2s} \leq 2$, it is sufficient to check that \mathfrak{b}_* and a_* satisfy

$$-\frac{1+2s}{2s}\dot{\mathfrak{b}_*} + (C_1 + \underline{C})\mathfrak{b}_*^2 \le \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{2}a_*^{2s}\mathfrak{b}_*^2.$$

We thus pick

$$(9.15) a_* \ge \max(C_b, 2^{2+\delta_*}, 1, \overline{C}) \text{and} a_*^{2s} \ge \frac{4(C_1 + \underline{C})}{C_{\text{vget}}} \text{and} a_* \ge C_{q_*}^{-\frac{1}{2s}} \left(\frac{4(1+2s)\beta_{q_*}}{2sC_{\text{vget}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}$$

(see (9.12) above for the last condition) so that (9.14) holds true together with the differential inequality. We can conclude as in the case of hard potentials (thanks to Lemma 9.3) that

$$f \le a_* C_{q_*}^{1 + \frac{1}{2s}} (1 + t^{-\beta_{q_*}})^{1 + \frac{1}{2s}} \langle v \rangle^{-q} \le a_* C_{q_*}^{1 + \frac{1}{2s}} 2^{\frac{1}{2s}} (1 + t^{-\beta_q}) \langle v \rangle^{-q},$$

where $\beta_q = \beta_{q_*} \left(1 + \frac{1}{2s} \right)$ and a_* satisfies (9.15).

Assume now that $q_* \ge d+1 > d+\gamma+2s$, we pick $\delta_* = 2s$ and $q = q_* + \delta_* \ge d+1+2s$. We impose that

(9.16)
$$\mathfrak{a} \geq C_b$$
 and $\mathfrak{a} \geq 2^{2+2s}\mathfrak{b}_*$ and $\mathfrak{a} \geq \overline{C}\mathfrak{b}_*^{1-\frac{\gamma}{2sd}}$

so that we can use Proposition 4.5, Lemma 5.4 (since q > d + 1 and $q_* > d + \gamma + 2s$) and Lemma 8.2 and find,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \varphi_{0,\kappa} (f - A) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{\mathfrak{b}_{*}^{2s}(t)} \mathfrak{a}^{1+2s}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s-q} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x, \\
\leq C_{1,q_{*}} \mathfrak{a}(t) \mathfrak{b}_{*}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma-q_{*}} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
+ C_{1,q_{*}} \mathfrak{a}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma-q} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
+ \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{2\mathfrak{b}_{*}^{2s}(t)} \mathfrak{a}^{1+2s}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma+2s-q} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
+ \frac{C}{\mathfrak{b}_{*}^{1-\frac{\gamma}{d}}}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1}(v) \langle v \rangle^{\gamma-q_{*}} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\
- \dot{\mathfrak{a}}(t) \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \Omega} \left((f - A)_{+} \wedge \kappa \right)^{q_{0}-1} \langle v \rangle^{-q} \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

We remark that $\gamma - q_* = \gamma + 2s - q$, that $\gamma - q \le \gamma + 2s - q$ and that $-q \le \gamma + 2s - q$. We thus look for \mathfrak{a} such that

$$-\dot{\mathfrak{a}} + 2C_{1,q_*}\mathfrak{ab}_* + \underline{C}\mathfrak{b}_*^{1-\frac{\gamma}{d}} \le \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{2\mathfrak{b}_*^{2s}}\mathfrak{a}^{1+2s}$$

(we used that $\mathfrak{b}_* \geq 1$). We plug once again $\mathfrak{a} = a_* \mathfrak{b}_*^{1 + \frac{1}{2s}}$ and get (after dividing by $a_* \mathfrak{b}_*^{\frac{1}{2s}}$),

$$-\frac{1+2s}{2s}\dot{\mathfrak{b}_*} + (2C_{1,q_*} + \underline{C})\mathfrak{b}_*^2 \le \frac{C_{\text{vget}}}{2}a_*^{2s}\mathfrak{b}_*^2.$$

We thus pick

$$(9.17) a_* \ge \max(C_b, 2^{2+2s}, 1, \overline{C}) \text{and} a_*^{2s} \ge \frac{4(2C_{1,q_*} + \underline{C})}{C_{\text{vget}}} \text{and} a_* \ge C_{q_*}^{-\frac{1}{2s}} \left(\frac{4(1+2s)\beta_{q_*}}{2sC_{\text{vget}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}$$

(see (9.12) above for the last condition) so that (9.16) holds true together with the differential inequality. We can conclude as in the case of hard potentials (thanks to Lemma 9.3) that

$$f \leq a_* C_{q_*}^{1+\frac{1}{2s}} (1+t^{-\beta_{q_*}})^{1+\frac{1}{2s}} \langle v \rangle^{-q} \leq a_* C_{q_*}^{1+\frac{1}{2s}} 2^{\frac{1}{2s}} (1+t^{-\beta_q}) \langle v \rangle^{-q},$$
 where $\beta_q = \beta_{q_*} (1+\frac{1}{2s})$ and a_* satisfies (9.17).

9.4. Proof of generation for large exponents.

Proof of Theorem 1.6 for large q's. The idea is to iterate the gain of decay from Lemma 9.4 and Lemma 9.5 for hard and soft potentials respectively. We have shown in Subsection 9.2 that

$$f \leq C_{q_*}(1 + t^{-\beta_{q_*}})\langle v \rangle^{-q_*},$$
 a.e. in $(0, T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$,

with

$$q_* = q_{\text{nsl}} =: q^{(0)}, \qquad \beta_{q_*} = \frac{d}{2s} =: \beta^{(0)}.$$

where we recall that q_{nsl} is given by (vii).

HARD POTENTIALS. Lemma 9.4 then implies that there is $C_q = a_0 C_{q_*}$ for some $a_0 > 0$ such that

$$f \leq C_q (1 + t^{-\beta_q}) \langle v \rangle^{-q}$$
, a.e. in $(0, T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$

with

$$q = q_* + 2s =: q^{(1)}, \qquad \beta_q = \frac{1+2s}{2s}\beta_{q_*} =: \beta^{(1)}.$$

We apply Lemma 9.4 again, now with $q^{(1)}$ and with $\beta^{(1)}$. We find

$$f \leq C_q (1 + t^{-\beta^{(2)}}) \langle v \rangle^{-q^{(2)}},$$
 a.e. in $(0, T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$

with

$$q^{(2)} = q^{(1)} + 2s = q_* + 2 \cdot 2s = d + 1 + 4s, \qquad \beta^{(2)} = \left(\frac{1+2s}{2s}\right)^2 \beta_{q_*} = \left(\frac{1+2s}{2s}\right)^2 \frac{d}{2s}.$$

We iterate this process and conclude for any $n \geq 0$

$$f \leq C_q (1 + t^{-\beta^{(n)}}) \langle v \rangle^{-q^{(n)}},$$
 a.e. in $(0, T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$

with

$$q^{(n)} = d + 1 + n \cdot 2s, \qquad \beta^{(n)} = \left(\frac{1+2s}{2s}\right)^n \frac{d}{2s}.$$

SOFT POTENTIALS. We follow the same reasoning in the case of soft potentials. We apply Lemma 9.5 with $q_* = q_{\rm nsl}$ and $\beta_{q_*} = \frac{d}{2s}$: then there is $C_q = a_0 C_{q_*}$ with $a_0 > 0$ such that

$$f \le C_q (1 + t^{-\beta_q}) \langle v \rangle^{-q}$$
, a.e. in $(0, T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$,

with

$$q = q_* + \delta_* =: q^{(1)}, \qquad \beta_q = \frac{1+2s}{2s} \beta_{q_*} =: \beta^{(1)},$$

where $\delta_* > 0$ depends on q_* . We iterate this process and we conclude for any $n \geq 0$

$$f \leq C_q \left(1 + t^{-\beta_q^{(n)}}\right) \langle v \rangle^{-q^{(n)}}, \quad \text{ a.e. in } (0,T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d,$$

with

$$q^{(n)} = q^{(n-1)} + \delta_*^{(n-1)}, \qquad \beta^{(n)} = \left(\frac{1+2s}{2s}\right)^n \frac{d}{2s}.$$

Writing $q^{(0)} = q_{\text{nsl}}$, we remark that there exists $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$q^{(n_0+1)} = d+1.$$

More precisely, we remark that

$$q^{(n+1)} = \begin{cases} \min\left(q^{(n)} + (\gamma + 2s) + (-\gamma)\frac{q^{(n)}}{d}, d+1\right) & \text{if } q^{(n)} < d\\ \min\left(q^{(n)} + 2s, d+1\right) & \text{if } d \le q^{(n)} < d+1\\ q^{(n)} + 2s & \text{if } q^{(n)} \ge d+1. \end{cases}$$

In particular, as long as $q^{(n)} < d+1$, we have $q^{(n+1)} \ge q^{(n)} + (\gamma + 2s)$ and since $\gamma + 2s > 0$, this cannot hold for all $n \ge 1$.

We thus have for $n \ge n_0 + 1$,

$$q^{(n)} = d + 1 + (n - n_0 - 1)2s,$$

ensuring in particular $q^{(n)} \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$.

References

- [1] R. Alexandre, L. Desvillettes, C. Villani, and B. Wennberg. Entropy dissipation and long-range interactions. *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.*, 152(4):327–355, 2000.
- [2] Ricardo Alonso, José A. Cañizo, Irene Gamba, and Clément Mouhot. A new approach to the creation and propagation of exponential moments in the Boltzmann equation. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, 38(1):155–169, 2013.
- [3] Leif Arkeryd. L^{∞} estimates for the space-homogeneous Boltzmann equation. J. Statist. Phys., 31(2):347–361, 1983.
- [4] Louise Barthélemy. Problème d'obstacle pour une équation quasi-linéaire du premier ordre. Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (5), 9(2):137–159, 1988.
- [5] A. V. Bobylev. Moment inequalities for the Boltzmann equation and applications to spatially homogeneous problems. *J. Statist. Phys.*, 88(5-6):1183–1214, 1997.
- [6] Luis Caffarelli, Chi Hin Chan, and Alexis Vasseur. Regularity theory for parabolic nonlinear integral operators. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 24(3):849–869, 2011.
- [7] Stephen Cameron and Stanley Snelson. Velocity decay estimates for Boltzmann equation with hard potentials. *Nonlinearity*, 33(6):2941–2958, 2020.
- [8] Chuqi Cao, Ling-Bing He, and Jie Ji. Propagation of moments and sharp convergence rate for inhomogeneous noncutoff Boltzmann equation with soft potentials. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 56(1):1321–1426, 2024.
- [9] T. Carleman. Sur la théorie de l'équation intégrodifférentielle de Boltzmann. Acta Math., 60:91–146, 1933.
- [10] T. Carleman. Problèmes mathématiques dans la théorie cinetique des gaz. Publications Scientifiques de l'Institut Mittag-Leffler. 2. Uppsala: Almqvist & Wiksells 112 p. (1957)., 1957.

- [11] Jamil Chaker and Luis Silvestre. Entropy dissipation estimates for the Boltzmann equation without cut-off. *Kinet. Relat. Models*, 16(5):748–763, 2023.
- [12] L. Desvillettes. Some applications of the method of moments for the homogeneous Boltzmann and Kac equations. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 123(4):387–404, 1993.
- [13] L. Desvillettes and C. Villani. On the trend to global equilibrium for spatially inhomogeneous kinetic systems: the Boltz-mann equation. *Invent. Math.*, 159(2):245–316, 2005.
- [14] Laurent Desvillettes and Clément Mouhot. Large time behavior of the a priori bounds for the solutions to the spatially homogeneous Boltzmann equations with soft potentials. Asymptot. Anal., 54(3-4):235-245, 2007.
- [15] R. J. DiPerna and P.-L. Lions. On the Cauchy problem for Boltzmann equations: global existence and weak stability. Ann. of Math. (2), 130(2):321–366, 1989.
- [16] T. Elmroth. Global boundedness of moments of solutions of the Boltzmann equation for forces of infinite range. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 82(1):1–12, 1983.
- [17] I. M. Gamba, V. Panferov, and C. Villani. Upper Maxwellian bounds for the spatially homogeneous Boltzmann equation. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 194(1):253–282, 2009.
- [18] Irene M. Gamba, Nataša Pavlović, and Maja Tasković. On pointwise exponentially weighted estimates for the Boltzmann equation. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 51(5):3921–3955, 2019.
- [19] François Golse, Cyril Imbert, and Luis Silvestre. Partial regularity in time for the homogeneous Boltzmann equation with very soft potentials, 2023. Preprint arXiv 2312.11079.
- [20] M. P. Gualdani, S. Mischler, and C. Mouhot. Factorization of non-symmetric operators and exponential H-theorem, volume 153 of Mém. Soc. Math. Fr., Nouv. Sér. Société Mathématique de France (SMF), Paris, 2017.
- [21] Christopher Henderson, Stanley Snelson, and Andrei Tarfulea. Local solutions of the Landau equation with rough, slowly decaying initial data. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire, 37(6):1345–1377, 2020.
- [22] Christopher Henderson, Stanley Snelson, and Andrei Tarfulea. Local well-posedness of the Boltzmann equation with polynomially decaying initial data. Kinet. Relat. Models, 13(4):837–867, 2020.
- [23] Christopher Henderson and Weinan Wang. Local well-posedness for the Boltzmann equation with very soft potential and polynomially decaying initial data. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 54(3):2845–2875, 2022.
- [24] E. Ikenberry and C. Truesdell. On the pressures and the flux of energy in a gas according to Maxwell's kinetic theory. I. J. Rational Mech. Anal., 5:1–54, 1956.
- [25] C. Imbert and J. Vovelle. A kinetic formulation for multidimensional scalar conservation laws with boundary conditions and applications. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 36(1):214–232, 2004.
- [26] Cyril Imbert, Clément Mouhot, and Luis Silvestre. Decay estimates for large velocities in the Boltzmann equation without cutoff. J. Éc. polytech. Math., 7:143–184, 2020.
- [27] Cyril Imbert, Clément Mouhot, and Luis Silvestre. Gaussian lower bounds for the Boltzmann equation without cutoff. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 52(3):2930–2944, 2020.
- [28] Cyril Imbert and Luis Silvestre. Regularity for the Boltzmann equation conditional to macroscopic bounds. *EMS Surv. Math. Sci.*, 7(1):117–172, 2020.
- [29] Cyril Imbert and Luis Silvestre. The weak Harnack inequality for the Boltzmann equation without cut-off. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 22(2):507–592, 2020.
- [30] Cyril Imbert and Luis Enrique Silvestre. Global regularity estimates for the Boltzmann equation without cut-off. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 35(3):625–703, 2022.
- [31] O. A. Ladyzhenskaya and N. N. Ural'tseva. A boundary value problem for linear and quasilinear parabolic equations. Sov. Math., Dokl., 2:969–972, 1961.
- [32] Gary M. Lieberman. Second order parabolic differential equations. World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1996.
- [33] Amélie Loher. Quantitative De Giorgi methods in kinetic theory for non-local operators. J. Funct. Anal., 286(6), 2024.
- [34] Xuguang Lu. Conservation of energy, entropy identity, and local stability for the spatially homogeneous Boltzmann equation. J. Statist. Phys., 96(3-4):765-796, 1999.
- [35] Stéphane Mischler and Bernst Wennberg. On the spatially homogeneous Boltzmann equation. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 16(4):467–501, 1999.
- [36] Zhimeng Ouyang and Luis Silvestre. Conditional L^{∞} estimates for the non-cutoff Boltzmann equation in a bounded domain, 2023. Preprint arXiv 2305.02392.
- [37] Benoît Perthame and Alexis Vasseur. Regularization in Keller-Segel type systems and the De Giorgi method. Commun. Math. Sci., 10(2):463–476, 2012.
- [38] A. Ja. Povzner. On the Boltzmann equation in the kinetic theory of gases. Mat. Sb. (N.S.), 58 (100):65-86, 1962.
- [39] Luis Silvestre. A new regularization mechanism for the Boltzmann equation without cut-off. Comm. Math. Phys., 348(1):69– 100, 2016.
- [40] C. Truesdell. On the pressures and the flux of energy in a gas according to Maxwell's kinetic theory. II. J. Rational Mech. Anal., 5:55–128, 1956.
- [41] Cédric Villani. A review of mathematical topics in collisional kinetic theory. In Handbook of mathematical fluid dynamics, Vol. I, pages 71–305. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2002.
- [42] Bernt Wennberg. The Povzner inequality and moments in the Boltzmann equation. In Proceedings of the VIII International Conference on Waves and Stability in Continuous Media, Part II (Palermo, 1995), number 45, part II, pages 673–681, 1996.